
MJ: Do you have any questions about any provision in your 

pretrial agreement? 

ACC: No, sir. 

MJ: Do you fully understand all the terms of the pretrial 

agreement and how they will affect your case? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Mr. Hicks, are you pleading guilty not only because you 

hope to receive a lighter sentence, but because based on your 

examination of the evidence against you and your own recollection of 

the events, you are convinced that the government could prove you 

guilty of the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Do counsel for both sides agree completely with my 

interpretation of the pretrial agreement? 

PROS: Yes, Your Honor. 

DDC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Mr. Hicks, have you had enough time and opportunity to 

discuss your case with Major Mori? 

ACC: Yes, I have. 

MJ: Major Mori, have you had enough time and opportunity to 

discuss your case with your client? 

DDC: Yes, sir. 



MJ: Mr. Hicks, have you fully consulted with your counsel and 

are you satisfied that you've received the full benefit of his 

advice? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Are you satisfied that his advice to you has been in your 

best interest? 

ACC: Yes. 

MJ: And are you satisfied with your defense counsel? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Are you pleading guilty voluntarily and of your own free 

will? 

ACC: Yes. 

MJ: Has anyone made any threat or in any way tried to force you 

to plead guilty here today? 

ACC: No, sir. 

MJ: Do you have any questions as to the meaning and effect of 

your plea of guilty in this case? 

ACC: No, sir. 

MJ: Do you fully understand the meaning and effect of your plea 

of guilty? 

ACC: Yes. 

MJ: Do you still want to plead guilty in this case? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 



MJ: Mr. Hicks, I find that your plea of guilty has been made 

voluntarily and with full knowledge of its meaning and effect. I 

further find that you have knowingly, intelligently, and consciously 

waived your rights against self-incrimination and to a trial of the 

facts by this military commission, and to be confronted by the 

witnesses against you. Accordingly, your plea of guilty is provident 

and is accepted. 

I will also advise you that you may request to withdraw 

your guilty plea at any time before the sentence is announced in this 

case, and if you have a good reason for such a request, I will allow 

you to do so. 

Do you understand that? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Does the government intend to go forward on Specification 2 

or the excepted words of Specification 1 to which Mr. Hicks has 

entered a plea of not guilty? 

PROS: No, sir. 

MJ: Do you move to amend Specification 1 of The Charge to 

conform with the pleas of the accused? 

PROS: Yes, Your Honor. 

MJ: Very well, the motion to amend Specification 1 of The 

Charge to conform to with the plea of the accused is granted, and the 

amendment is ordered. 



M J :  Government, do you t h e n  move t o  d i s m i s s  w i t h  p r e j u d i c e  

S p e c i f i c a t i o n  2 o f  The Charge? 

PROS: No, s i r ,  n o t  a t  t h i s  t i m e .  The government moves t o  

d i s m i s s  S p e c i f i c a t i o n  2 o f  The Charge w i t h o u t  p r e j u d i c e ,  t o  r i p e n  

i n t o  d i s m i s s a l  w i t h  p r e j u d i c e  upon announcement o f  t h e  s e n t ~ n c ~ .  

M J :  Is  t h e r e  any  o b j e c t i o n  t o  t h a t ?  

DDC: No, s i r .  

M J :  Is  d e f e n s e  s a t i s f i e d  t h a t  i s  i n  a c c o r d a n c e  w i t h  t h e  

p r e t r i a l  agreement?  

DDC: Yes, s i r .  

M J :  Very  w e l l .  The mot ion  t o  d i s m i s s  S p e c i f i c a t i o n  2 o f  The 

Charge and t h e  e x c e p t e d  l anguage  w i t h  r e g a r d  t o  S p e c i f i c a t i o n  1 i s  

g r a n t e d  and t h e  d i s m i s s a l  i s  o r d e r e d .  I t  w i l l  r i p e n  i n t o  d i s m i s s a l  

w i t h  p r e j u d i c e  a t  t h e  t i m e  t h e  s e n t e n c e  i s  announced i n  t h i s  c a s e .  

S p e c i f i c a t i o n  1 o f  The Charge i s  o r d e r e d  t o  be  renumbered t h e n  a s  

"The S p e c i f i c a t i o n  o f  The Charge ."  

Accused and c o u n s e l  p l e a s e  r i s e .  

[The accused  and h i s  d e t a i l e d  d e f e n s e  c o u n s e l  d i d  a s  d i r e c t e d . ]  

[END OF PAGE] 



1 MJ: David Matthew Hicks, in accordance with your plea of 

2 guilty, this commission finds you as follows: 

Of The Specification of 
The Charge and to The Charge: Guilty of a violation 

of Title 10 United 
States Code Section 
950v Part 25, 
"Providing Material 
Support for 
Terrorism." 

You may be seated. 

[The accused and his detailed defense counsel did as directed.] 

MJ: Mr. Hicks, when the members come in we'll start the 

sentencing phase of this trial. Pursuant to the terms of the 

pretrial agreement in this case, the government may offer no evidence 

in aggravation, but it may offer a stipulation of fact that we have 

previously discussed. 

Do you understand that? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Under the laws governing these commissions you have the 

right to present matters in extenuation and mitigation. Included in 

these rights are the rights that you have to testify under oath, to 

make an unsworn statement, or to remain silent. If you testify under 

oath, you may be cross-examined by the prosecutor and questioned by 

me or the members. If you make an unsworn statement, you may not be 

cross-examined by the prosecutor or questioned by me or the members. 



The government may, however, provide evidence in rebuttal of any 

statement of fact made in an unsworn statement. An unsworn statement 

may be made orally or in writing, personally or through counsel, or 

you may use a combination of these methods. If you elect to remain 

silent, the commission members will be instructed not to draw any 

adverse inference from your silence. 

Do you understand that? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Now we previously discussed in your pretrial agreement that 

you agreed to forego the right to present matters in extenuation and 

mitigation and to limit your presentation of matters during the 

presentencing hearing to an unsworn statement. Are you still 

satisfied with that aspect of your pretrial agreement? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Alright, at this time we're going to be taking a recess and 

I'll advise the parties about a restart time as soon as I'm advised 

of when the members will be available to us. 

Is there anything else we need to address at this time 

before we recess? 

Government? 

PROS: No, Your Honor. 

DDC: No, sir. 

MJ: Very well, we're in recess. 



[The session recessed at 1045 hours, 30 March 2007.1 

[The session was called to order at 1433 hours, 30 March 2007.1 

MJ: The commission will come to order. All parties present 

when the commission recessed are again present. 

First, I'd like to clarify for the record one thing about 

my finding. In citing the US Code section with regard to The Charge 

to which a finding of guilty was entered, I want to clarify that that 

was to Title 10 United States Code Section 950v(b)(25). 

Trial counsel, has a sentence worksheet been marked as an 

appellate exhibit? 

PROS: It has, Your Honor. 

[The court reporter handed AE 26 to the military judge.] 

MJ: I've been handed what has been marked as Appellate Exhibit 

26, the sentencing worksheet in this case. 

Major Mori, have you had the opportunity to inspect 

Appellate Exhibit 26? 

DDC: I have, sir, and I have no objection. 

MJ: Thank you. I noted earlier today that during our series of 

conferences over the past couple of days we had discussions of the 

voir dire of the members as well as the sentencing instructions. 

During the course of that process I provided trial and defense 

counsel with a copy of my planned group voir dire of the members 



which is developed in part based on the input from both sides, and 

also my planned sentencing instructions for the members. 

Have both sides had an opportunity to inspect my planned 

group voir dire and sentencing instructions? 

PROS: Yes, sir. 

DDC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Is there any objection to any of that or a request for 

additional group voir dire or instructions? 

PROS: No, sir. 

DDC: None from the defense, sir. 

MJ: Major Mori, have you had an opportunity to inspect the 

members' folders which have been placed in the jury box? 

DDC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Is their any objection to any of that? 

DDC: No, sir. 

MJ: And there should be a copy of the convening order and the 

modification thereto, each member's own member questionnaire, a copy 

of the cleansed charge sheet, and a blank pad of paper. Is that in 

accord with what you saw? 

DDC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Major Mori, have you had an opportunity to review the 

members' questionnaires to include their responses? 

DDC: Yes, sir. 



MJ: Those will be collectively marked as Appellate Exhibit 31. 

Does either side have any other materials which could be marked at 

this time? 

PROS: No, sir. 

DDC: No, sir. 

MJ: Is there anything else from either side before we call the 

members? 

PROS: No, sir. 

DDC: No, sir. 

MJ: Very well, please call all the members into the courtroom. 

[The bailiff did as directed.] 

Bailiff: All rise. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

[The members entered the courtroom.] 

[END OF PAGE] 



[The commission was called to order at 1439 hours, 30 March 2007, 

pursuant to the orders previously inserted in the record, and as 

amended by Military Commission Convening Order Number 07-03, dated 29 

March 2007.1 

MJ: Members, please be seated. 

[The members did as directed.] 

MJ: Everyone, please be seated. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

MJ: Members, there is a folder in front of each of you with a 

copy of the convening order on top. Please do not open the folder at 

this time. Your name should be highlighted on a copy of the 

convening order or the modification to the convening order which 

should also be on top of the folder. At this time I would like for 

each member to examine the convening order on top of the folder to 

ensure that you see your name on the convening order with the correct 

spelling, rank, and branch of service. If you don't see your name, 

or if the spelling or information is incorrect, please raise your 

hand. 

[The members did as directed.] 

MJ: Negative response from the members. 

The members of the commission will now be sworn. 



Members, when I ask you to rise, when the prosecutor states 

your name, please raise your right hand and keep it raised until the 

oath has been administered. 

All persons in the courtroom, please rise. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

[The members were sworn.] 

MJ: Members, please be seated. 

[The members did as directed.] 

MJ: Everyone, please be seated. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

MJ: The military commission is assembled. 

Members, it is now appropriate that I give you some 

preliminary instructions. I'm the military judge in this case, and 

my duty is to ensure this trial is conducted in a fair, orderly, and 

impartial manner in accordance with the law. I preside over open 

sessions, rule upon objections, and instruct you on the law 

applicable to this case. You are required to follow my instructions 

on the law and you may not consult any other source as to the law 

pertaining to this case unless it is admitted into evidence. This 

rule applies throughout the trial including closed sessions and 

periods of recess and adjournment. Any questions you have of me 

should be asked in open court. 



At a session held earlier today the accused pled guilty to 

The Charge and Specification which is described in the folder before 

you. I accepted that plea and entered a finding of guilty. 

Therefore, you will not have to determine whether the accused is 

guilty or not guilty, as that has been established by his p l p a .  

Your duty is to determine an appropriate sentence. That 

duty is a grave responsibility requiring the exercise of wise 

discretion. Your determination must be based upon all the evidence 

that is presented to you and the instructions that I will give you 

with regard to the applicable law. Since you cannot properly reach 

that determination until all the evidence has been presented and you 

have been instructed, it is of vital importance that you keep an open 

mind until all the evidence and the instructions have been presented 

to you. 

During what is called the voir dire process, I will ask you 

some questions and counsel will be given an opportunity to ask you 

questions and exercise challenges. With regard to challenges, if you 

know of any matter that you feel might affect your impartiality to 

sit as a commission member, you must disclose that matter when asked 

to do so. Bear in mind that any statement you make should be made in 

general terms so as not to disqualify other members who might hear 

the statement. 



Grounds for challenge would include if you had investigated 

any offense charged, or if you have formed a fixed opinion as to what 

an appropriate punishment would be for this accused, or any other 

matter that may affect your impartiality regarding the appropriate 

sentence for the accused. Questions asked by myself and t h ~  lahry~rs 

are not intended to embarrass you. They are also not an attack upon 

your integrity. They are asked merely in order to determine whether 

a basis for challenge exists. 

It is of no adverse reflection upon a member to be excused 

from a particular case. You will be questioned individually and 

collectively, but in either event, you should always indicate an 

individual response to the question asked. Unless I indicate 

otherwise, you are required to answer all questions. In all cases an 

affirmative response should be indicated by raising your hand. I 

will interpret the absence of a raised hand as a negative response. 

Do all members understand this instruction? In which case 

you should be raising your hand. Very good. 

[All members indicated an affirmative response.] 

MJ: Members, you must keep an open mind throughout the trial. 

You must impartially hear the evidence and the instructions on the 

law. Only when you are in your closed session deliberations may you 

properly make a determination as to an appropriate sentence, after 

considering all the alternative punishments that I will later advise 



you. You may not have a preconceived idea or formula as to either 

the type or the amount of punishment which should be imposed, if any. 

During any recess you may not discuss the case with anyone, 

not even amongst yourselves. You must not listen to or read any 

account of the trial, or consult any source written or otherwise as 

to matters involved in the case. You must hold all your discussion 

of the case until you are all together in your closed session 

deliberations, so that all of the members will have the benefit of 

all the discussion. 

If anyone attempts to discuss the case in your presence 

during a recess or adjournment, you must immediately tell them to 

stop and report that occurrence to me during the next session. I may 

not repeat that instruction before every break, but it applies at 

every break and please keep it in mind. 

During any breaks I will try to estimate the time needed 

for recesses or hearings outside your presence. Sometimes their 

duration, however, is extended by consideration of new issues arising 

during such hearings. Your patience and understanding regarding 

these matters will greatly contribute to an atmosphere that is 

consistent with the fair administration of justice. 

While you are present in your closed session deliberations, 

only the members will be present, and you must remain together, and 

you may not allow any unauthorized intrusion into your deliberations. 



Each of you has an equal voice and vote with the other members in 

discussing and deciding all issues that will be submitted to you. 

However, in addition to the duties of the other members, the senior 

member will act as your presiding officer during your closed session 

deliberations, and will speak for the commission in announcing the 

results. 

This general order of events can be expected during this 

trial are: questioning of members, challenges and excusals, 

presentation of evidence, closing argument by counsel, instructions 

on the law, your deliberations, and announcement of the sentence. 

Members, the appearance and demeanor of all parties to the trial 

should reflect the seriousness with which the trial is viewed. 

Careful attention to all that occurs during the trial is required of 

all parties. If it becomes too hot or too cold in the courtroom, or 

you need a break because of drowsiness or for comfort or for any 

reason at all, please tell me so that we can attend to your needs and 

avoid potential problems that might occur otherwise. 

Each of you may take notes if you desire and use them to 

refresh your memory during deliberations, but they may not be read 

then to or show them to the other members. At the time of any recess 

you should cover them up if you leave them at your place in the 

member's box, or take them with you for safe keeping until the next 

session. 



Are there any questions? 

Negative response. 

Members, at this time please open your folder and take a 

moment to read The Charge and Specification contained therein. 

Please simply look up when you are through reading, and take your 

time. 

[The members did as directed.] 

MJ: Does any member require any additional time to review The 

Charge or Specification? 

Negative response. 

Alright members, at this time I'm going to ask you a series 

of questions and this is what I refer to as the voir dire process. 

Again, if you have an affirmative response to any question, please 

raise your hand and I'll just make a note of that and then we'll move 

on. After I state your name, that will indicate that I've got it 

marked down. 

Does any member know the accused in this case, Mr. David 

Hicks? 

Negative response from the members. 

Does anyone know any person named in The Specification? 

Negative response from the members. 



Having seen the accused and having read The Charge and 

Specification, does any member feel that they cannot give the accused 

a fair trial for any reason? 

N e g a t i v e  response from t h e  m e m b e r s .  

Does anyone have any prior knowledge of the facts or events 

in this case? 

Negative response from the members. 

Has any member or any member of your family ever been 

charged with an offense similar to the offense charged in this case? 

Negative response from the members. 

Has any member, or any member of your family, or anyone 

close to you personally ever been the victim of an offense similar to 

the offense charged in this case? 

Negative response from the members. 

Have any of you served in Afghanistan? 

Negative response from the members. 

Do any of you have a family member, a friend, or close 

professional colleague who was killed or wounded in the course of 

service in Afghanistan? 

Affirmative response from Colonel [REDACTED], negative 

response from the other members. 



Do any of you have a family member, a friend, or close 

professional colleague who was killed or harmed as the result of what 

might be described as an act of terrorism? 

N e g a t i v e  response from t h e  m e m b e r s .  

Has any act of terrorism, the war in Afghanistan, or the 

war in Iraq had any impact upon you, your family, relatives or 

friends? 

Negative response from the members. 

Have any of you previously served as a member of some other 

military commission, court-martial, or civilian jury? 

Affirmative response from all the members except Colonel 

[REDACTED], Colonel [REDACTED], and Captain [REDACTED]. Thank you. 

Has anyone had any specialized law enforcement training or 

experience to include duties as a military police officer, off-duty 

security guard, civilian police officer or comparable duties other 

than general law enforcement duties common to military personnel of 

your rank and position? 

Negative response from the members. 

Is there any member here who is in the rating or evaluation 

or supervisory chain of any other member? 

Negative response from the members. 

Has anyone had any dealings with any of the parties to the 

trial to include myself, and I am Colonel [REDACTED]; the Prosecutor, 



Lieutenant Colonel [REDACTED] over here; Prosecutor Lieutenant 

[REDACTED]; or the Defense Counsel, Major Mori? 

Negative response from the members. 

Have any of you had any contact with the following persons: 

The Convening Authority, Ms. [REDACTED]; Legal Advisor to 

the Convening Authority, Brigadier General [REDACTED], United States 

Air Force, retired; Colonel [REDACTED], United States Air Force; 

Colonel Dwight Sullivan, United States Marine Corps Reserve; or any 

other person whom you are aware has worked or served in connection 

with the Military Commissions process? 

Negative response from all the members with regard to all 

those persons mentioned. 

Members, do any of you know of anything of either a 

personal or professional nature that would cause you to be unable to 

give your full attention to these proceedings throughout this trial? 

Negative response from the members. 

Is there any member who has seen or heard any mention of 

this case in the media within the last 5-1/2 years? 

Affirmative response from Colonel [REDACTED], Captain 

[REDACTED], Lieutenant Colonel [REDACTED], Colonel [REDACTED], 

Captain [REDACTED], and Captain [REDACTED]. Negative response other 

than the ones I mentioned. 



Is there any member who has seen or heard any press 

coverage of this case within the last week? 

Affirmative response from Colonel [REDACTED], Captain 

[REDACTED], Lieutenant Colonel [REDACTED], Captain [REDACTED]; and 

negative response from the other members. 

Members, have any of your ever been stationed or assigned 

TAD or TDY here at GTMO? 

Affirmative response from Colonel [REDACTED], negative 

response from the other members. 

Has any member ever been engaged in detainee operations? 

Negative response from the members. 

Has any member been stationed or assigned TAD or TDY in 

Bagram? 

Negative response from the members. 

Has any member been stationed or assigned TAD or TDY aboard 

the USS Peleliu? 

Affirmative response from Captain [REDACTED]. Negative 

response from the other members. 

Has any member been stationed or assigned TAD or TDY aboard 

the USS Belleau Wood? 

Negative response from the members. 

Members, it is a ground for challenge that you have an 

inelastic predisposition toward the imposition of a particular 



punishment based solely on the nature of the crime for which the 

accused is to be sentenced. Does any member, having read The Charge 

and Specification, believe that you would be compelled to vote for 

any particular punishment solely because of the nature of The Charge? 

Negative response from the members. 

Members, you will be instructed in detail before you begin 

your deliberations. I will instruct you on the full range of 

punishments which ranges from no punishment up to a maximum 

punishment which in this case is confinement for a period not to 

exceed 7 years. You should consider all forms of punishment within 

that range. Consider doesn't necessarily mean that you would vote 

for a particular punishment. "Consider" means that you would think 

about and make a choice in your mind one way or the other as to 

whether that's an appropriate punishment. Each member must keep an 

open mind and not make a choice, nor foreclose from consideration any 

possible sentence until the closed session for deliberations and 

voting on the sentence. 

Can each of you follow this instruction? If so, you should 

raise your hand. 

Affirmative response from all the members. 

Members, can each of you be fair, impartial, and 

open-minded in your consideration of an appropriate sentence in this 

case? 



Affirmative response from all the members. 

Does any member believe that participating in this 

proceeding as a commission member could have an impact on their 

personal or professional life? 

Negative response from the members. 

Does any member believe that the sentence adjudged in this 

proceeding could have an impact on their personal or professional 

life? 

Negative response from the members. 

Members, do any of you believe that the result of this 

commission may be taken into account in any future performance 

evaluation or selection board in your case? 

Negative response from the members. 

Members, can each of you reach a decision on a sentence 

upon an individual basis in this particular case and not solely on 

the nature of the offense of which the accused has been convicted? 

Can each of you do that? 

Affirmative response from all the members. 

Members, is there anything that I've touched on or not, 

anything at all, that you think might raise a substantial question in 

the mind of someone else about your participation in this commission 

as a commission member? 

Negative response from the members. 



1 Members, I ' m  g o i n g  t o  a s k  you t o  s t e p  o u t  f o r  a  few 

2 m i n u t e s .  T h e r e ' s  a  c o u p l e  o f  t h i n g s  I need t o  t a l k  a b o u t  w i t h  

3 counse l  b e f o r e  we proceed any f u r t h e r .  

4 B a i l i f f :  A l l  r i s e .  

5 [ A l l  p e r s o n s  i n  t h e  cour t room d i d  a s  d i r e c t e d . ]  

6 [The members d e p a r t e d  t h e  c o u r t r o o m . ]  

7 [END O F  PAGE] 



[The sess ion was c a l l e d  t o  order a t  1512 hours, 30 March 2007.1 

MJ: Please be seated. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

PROS: Your Honor, is it possible for counsel to meet for a 

bench 802 -- or just a brief bench conference on one or two issues? 

MJ: No, it's not my practice to do that, if we're going to do 

an 802. Does it need to be done before we proceed with voir dire? 

PROS: Yes, sir, briefly. 

MJ: Okay, we're going to take a short recess. We're in recess 

[The sess ion recessed a t  1512 hours, 30 March 2007.1 

[The sess ion was c a l l e d  t o  order a t  1519 hours, 30 March 2007.1 

MJ: The commission will come to order. All parties present 

when the court recessed are again present. The members are absent. 

With regard to voir dire, does either side have any 

additional group voir dire questions they want asked? Government? 

APROS: Negative, sir. 

DDC: None from the defense, sir. 

MJ: Based on responses to the group voir dire, I intend to 

recall Colonel [REDACTED], Colonel [REDACTED], Captain [REDACTED], 

Captain [REDACTED], Captain [REDACTED], Colonel [REDACTED], Colonel 

[REDACTED], and Lieutenant Colonel [REDACTED], and Colonel 

[REDACTED]. So that would be all except for Colonel [REDACTED] for 



individual voir dire. Does either side have any reason to recall 

Colonel [REDACTED] for individual voir dire? 

APROS: No, sir. 

DDC: No, sir. 

MJ: First if we collld get Colonel [REDACTED], please. 

[Colonel [REDACTED] entered the courtroom and was seated.] 

INDIVIDUAL VOIR DIRE OF COLONEL [REDACTED] 

Questions by the military judge: 

Q. Are all the folders closed with the notes covered up there? 

A. They are, Your Honor. 

Q. Thank you. Sir, you indicated that you had previously 

served as a member of another Military Commission or a court-martial 

or a civilian jury. Is that correct? 

A. It is. 

Q. Could you please just tell us about that? 

A. It was a court-martial and the offense was child abuse. 

Q. When was that? 

A. I'd say it was around the '99 timeframe. 

Q. Is there anything about your participation in that 

proceeding that you believe would have any effect on your 

participation here today? 

A. None at all. 

MJ: Additional questions from the government? 



APROS: No, sir. 

MJ: From the defense? 

DDC: Sir, none from the defense. 

MJ: Sir, thank you very much. You can go back to the 

deliberation room. And if we could have Colonel [REDACTED], please. 

[Colonel [REDACTED] departed the courtroom and Colonel [REDACTED] 

entered the courtroom and was seated.] 

INDIVIDUAL VOIR DIRE OF COLONEL [REDACTED] 

Questions by the military judge: 

Q. Sir, you indicated an affirmative response to the question 

whether you had a family member, friend, or close professional 

colleague that was killed or wounded in the course of service in 

Afghanistan. Is that correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Could you please tell us about that? 

A. Well it's just the branch that I'm in within the Army had 

several folks that were in Afghanistan on a rotational basis and some 

were wounded. So I spent about 20 years in that particular line of 

work and I wasn't in that particular unit at the time. 

Q. So the question was, looking that if you had in the family 

member, friend, or close professional colleague who was wounded or 

killed in the course of service in Afghanistan? 



A. It wasn't killed. It was wounded and it was professional 

colleague or colleagues in Afghanistan. 

Q. Were these people that you also socialize with at all or 

just people you had just served with or attended training with or 

something like that? 

A. I had attended training with, served with previously. Have 

not served with in the last -- well before I'd say last time would 

have been in the year 2000. 

Q. Do you believe that having that experience of having known 

these people who were wounded there would have an impact on how you 

viewed matters or how you make decisions in this case? 

A. I don't believe so. There wasn't any specific reference to 

any particular case. 

MJ: Questions by the government? 

APROS: No, sir. 

MJ: From the defense? 

DDC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Hold on. He had a positive response on a couple of others. 

Let me cover those first. I apologize. I should have done that. 

Questions by the military judge continued: 

Q. You indicated an affirmative response also that you had 

seen or heard mention of this case in the media within the last 5-1/2 

years and also within the last week. Is that correct? 



A. That's correct. 

Q. Could you please tell us about that? 

A. We've been studying about it, just reading newspapers. 

Then this morning it was on as we were driving in -- it was on 

National Public Radio. 

Q. Now when you say "we've been studying about it," who are 

"we"? 

A. In the school -- just reading that we do within the school. 

Q. Are you attending some sort of professional schooling? 

A. I'm an instructor right now, yes. 

Q. Where is that? 

A. In Washington at the National Defense University. 

Q. Okay. What is your area of instruction? 

A. Strategy. 

Q. When you say "strategy," are you talking about national 

strategy? 

A. National security strategy, correct. I just might add that 

it's in the broader context, not a specific context. But I did hear 

about it on the radio today -- this morning. 

Q. Do any of your materials have anything to do with this 

case? 

A. No. 



Q. Has there been any kind of discussion within your -- do you 

teach a seminar format or a lecture format? 

A. It's a seminar format, yes. 

Q. Has there been any discussion in your seminars or in the 

hallways about what should be done with regard to people that are 

involved in unlawful warfare or anything like that? 

A. No. Essentially what we're doing is understanding the 

global context. Knowing that this situation is part of the global 

context we've looked at several functional areas within the global 

context of which terrorism has been part of it -- the global context. 

So we just looked at it from a functional approach not in a detailed 

case-by-case approach. 

MJ: Government, any additional questions? 

APROS: No, sir. 

MJ: Defense? 

DDC: No, sir. 

MJ: Thank you very much. You can go back to the deliberation 

room and we'll take Colonel [REDACTED], please. 

[Colonel [REDACTED] departed the courtroom and Colonel [REDACTED] 

entered the courtroom and was seated.] 



INDIVIDUAL VOIR DIRE OF COLONEL [REDACTED] 

Questions by the military judge: 

Q. You indicated an affirmative response to the question if 

you previously served as a member of any other military commission, 

court-martial, or civilian jury. Is that correct? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. Could you please tell us about that now? 

A. Yes. It was several years back. It was a military, male 

member Air Force that had abducted and assaulted a girlfriend. My 

part of the commission there was to render -- not render judgment, 

but to vote on judgment that was going to be rendered to him. 

Whether to retain or not retain in service. 

Q. This was a court-martial proceeding? 

A. Yes, it was. 

Q. Is there anything about your participation in that process 

there that you think would affect your participation here today? 

A. No, sir. 

MJ: Questions from the government? 

APROS: No, sir. 

MJ: From the defense? 

DDC: No, sir. 

MJ: Sir, thank you very much. If you can step back into the 

deliberation room, please. Next we'll have Captain [REDACTED]. 



[Colonel [REDACTED] departed the courtroom and Captain [REDACTED] 

entered the courtroom and was seated.] 

INDIVIDUAL VOIR DIRE OF CAPTAIN [REDACTED] 

Questions by the military judge: 

Q. Sir, you indicated an affirmative response to the two 

questions about the media contacts that you had heard mention of this 

case in the media within the last 5-1/2 years and also within the 

last week. Is that correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Can you please tell us about that? 

A. The longer timeframe, just when detainees were first 

brought to Guantanamo. I couldn't even tell you the source. They 

were profiling the nationalities of all but there was one Australian 

national that was held here. Again, this was some time ago. As to 

the most current one, I believe it was on -- I want to say it was 

probably Tuesday afternoon watching the news -- I believe it was Fox 

News Channel, they run the ticker at the bottom and there was a 

mention I think that there had been a plea reached in this case. 

Q. Did it provide you any more information than I've provided 

you here today as far as Mr. Hicks having pleaded and been found 

guilty? 



A. No, not that I recall. I think the ticker was very brief 

saying a plea had been reached and I think that was the extent of it 

from what I recall. 

Q. Have you learned more about the case since you've been here 

than when you left and what you heard on the news? 

A. From yourself? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Yes. Considerably more. 

MJ: Questions in light of that. Government? 

APROS: No, sir. 

DDC: None from the defense, Your Honor. 

MJ: Thank you very much. You can go back into the deliberation 

room, and we'll take Captain [REDACTED], please. 

[Captain [REDACTED] departed the courtroom and Captain [REDACTED] 

entered the courtroom and was seated.] 

INDIVIDUAL VOIR DIRE OF CAPTAIN [REDACTED] 

Questions by the military judge: 

Q. You indicated an affirmative response to the two questions 

I asked about media coverage. Both that you had heard some mention 

of the case in the media within the last 5-1/2 years and also within 

the last week. Is that correct? 

A. That is correct. 



Q. Could you please tell us about that? 

A. I read the paper every day and it was up in the Washington 

Post and it just caught my interest because there has been a lot of 

publicity about GTMO anyways and I've been here so it just caught my 

interest. 

Q. Do you recall what you learned about this case? 

A. Honestly, I was trying to think about whether it was the 

paper or on TV, but I've been to Australia a couple of times and just 

somebody from Australia caught my attention. I typically skim 

through the paper, I don't read every article because of the amount 

of time I have. That's about it. That's about all I can remember 

from the paper. 

Q. Do you recall hearing or seeing anything in the media that 

you haven't seen or heard now in court today based on what you've 

read? 

A. Well the charges. I don't recall ever hearing the name in 

the paper or on news. 

Q. What I'm getting after, I know what you've learned here 

today, is there anything that you heard in the media in addition to 

that? 

A. No. 

Q. So you've learned more today? 

A. Oh, absolutely. 



Q. You mentioned and I'll this follow-up on the trip to 

Australia. Could you tell us about that and what they were? 

A. Liberty port call on a typical deployment. This was '87, 

maybe '88. 

Q. How long were you there? 

A. About a week. In Perth. 

Q. Did you say since you've been in here now that you had been 

in Guantsnamo before? 

A. I've landed here to refuel. Not TDY. 

Q. Did you get off the airfield or not? 

A. I tried to get off as quick as I could. 

Q. You misinterpreted my question. Was your stay here limited 

to being on the airfield and refueling, or did you come and stay 

overnight? 

A. No. It was just about 20 minutes for refueling and then we 

were off. 

Q. You indicated that you had been stationed or assigned on 

the USS Peleliu. Is that correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Could you please tell us about that? 

A. It was a typical 6-month deployment which I was a part of 

the air wing. A detachment of two Navy helicopters for combat search 

and rescue. 



Q. When was that? 

A. ' 97. 

Q. Have you ever been aboard the USS Bataan? 

A. No, I haven't. 

MJ: Questions in light of that, government? 

APROS: Negative, sir. 

DDC: None from the defense, sir. 

MJ: Sir, thank you very much. You can go back to the 

deliberation room. If we could have Captain [REDACTED], please. 

[Captain [REDACTED] departed the courtroom and Captain [REDACTED] 

entered the courtroom and was seated.] 

INDIVIDUAL VOIR DIRE OF CAPTAIN [REDACTED] 

Questions by the military judge: 

Q. Sir, you indicated an affirmative response to the question 

about having heard mention of this case in the media within the last 

5-1/2 years. Is that correct? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Could you please tell us about that? 

A. I just happened to go to the Yahoo! home page and read a 

story on it one day last week. That's the extent of the media 

coverage. 

Q. Do you recall what that story told you? 

A. I only recall the person's name and your name in the story 



Q. That's it? 

A. That's it, and his country of origin and that he was on 

trial here. 

Q. Do you recall anything in that story being reported to you 

that in any way differs from what you learned in court today? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. You also indicated that you served previously as a member 

of another military commission, or court-martial, or civilian jury. 

Is that correct? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Which one was it? 

A. It was a military court-martial. 

Q. Could you tell us about that, please? 

A. It was a case where the military member was on trial for 

child abuse. They thought that he might be starving his child to 

death. 

Q. When was that? 

A. Probably about 10 years ago when I was lieutenant 

commander. 

Q. Is there anything about your service with regard to that 

court-martial that you think will have an effect on your service here 

today as a commission member? 

A. No, sir. 



MJ: Questions in light of that, government? 

APROS: No sir. 

DDC: None from the defense, Your Honor. 

MJ: Sir, thank you very much. You can go back to the 

deliberation room, and we'll take Colonel [REDACTED]. 

[Captain [REDACTED] departed the courtroom and Colonel [REDACTED] 

entered the courtroom and was seated.] 

INDIVIDUAL VOIR DIRE OF COLONEL [REDACTED] 

Questions by the military judge: 

Q. You indicated that you had previously served as a member of 

another military commission, or court-martial, or civilian jury. Is 

that correct? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Could you please tell us about that? 

A. Yes, sir. It was in the mid-90s. I was assigned to a 

court-martial. It was a sexual assault case and I ended up being the 

president of the members for that case. 

Q. Is there anything about your service with regard to that 

court-martial that you think will affect how you serve with regard to 

this military commission? 

A. No. I d o n o t .  



Q. You indicated that you had seen or heard some mention of 

this case in the media within the last 5 years. Is that correct? 

A. Yes, that's correct. 

Q. Could you please tell us about that? 

A. I wollld say 2 to 3 weeks ago I remember in the o f f i c ~  onP 

morning seeing a short clip on one of the news media programs and 

that was it. 

Q. Do you recall what was reported? 

A. I do not. 

Q. You just remember ---- 

A. I remember something about Guantsnamo Bay and the name 

"Hicks ." 

Q. You indicated you had been stationed, assigned, TAD, or TDY 

at GTMO before. Is that correct? 

A. I was on an aircraft that transited here, I think due to 

mechanical problems. I was not assigned here for any -- we didn't 

even spend the night. 

Q. Did you stay on the airfield there until it was fixed? 

A. That's correct. 

MJ: Questions in light of that, government? 

APROS: No, sir. 

DDC: Sir, just one quick one. 



Questions by the detailed defense counsel: 

Q. Sir, I noticed on your questionnaire you attended 

university with I believe Captain [REDACTED]. Is that correct sir? 

At The Citadel? 

A. I did attend The Citadel. I don't remember him as a 

classmate. 

Q. Okay. That answers the question then, sir. Thank you. 

MJ: Anything else? 

APROS: No, sir. 

DDC: Nothing from the defense, sir. 

MJ: Colonel, thank you very much. You can go back to the 

deliberation room. If we could have Colonel [REDACTED], please. 

[Colonel [REDACTED] departed the courtroom and Colonel [REDACTED] 

entered the courtroom and was seated.] 

INDIVIDUAL VOIR DIRE OF COLONEL [REDACTED] 

Questions by the military judge: 

Q. Sir, you indicated that you had previously served as a 

member of another military commission, court-martial, or civilian 

jury. Is that correct? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. Could you please tell us about that? 

A. It was a court-martial in 2001. 



Q. What were the general nature of the charges, do you recall? 

A. An Airman was charged with being on -- he was found with 

drugs on duty and convicted. 

Q. Is there anything about your service with regard to that 

court-martial that you think would affect your service here today as 

a military commission member? 

A. No, sir. 

MJ: Additional questions? 

APROS: No, sir. 

DDC: None from the defense, sir. 

MJ: Sir, thank you very much. You may go back to the 

deliberation room. If we could have Lieutenant Colonel [REDACTED], 

please. 

[Colonel [REDACTED] departed the courtroom and Lieutenant Colonel 

[REDACTED] entered the courtroom and was seated.] 

INDIVIDUAL VOIR DIRE OF LIEUTENANT COLONEL [REDACTED] 

Questions by the military judge: 

Q. Ma'am, you indicated that you had previously served as a 

member of another military commission, or court-martial, or civilian 

jury. Is that correct? 

A. Yes. sir. 



Q. Could you please tell us about that? 

A. Approximately 10 years ago I sat on a court-martial in 

Korea. It was concerning a sexual assault. 

Q. Is there anything about your service and that court-martial 

that you think would have an impact on your service as a military 

commission member in this case? 

A. No. 

Q. You also indicated an affirmative response to my two 

questions about having seen mention of this case in the media. Is 

that correct? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Could you please tell us about that? 

A. Tuesday morning we have something called "aim points" in 

the Air Force. News comes to us every day and there were a couple of 

articles in there on Tuesday morning. 

Q. In what format does it come to you? 

A. It's e-mail. 

Q. Do you recall what was reported there about this case? 

A. That there was a plea. That's about it. 

Q. Do you recall anything being reported to you that you 

haven't learned since being in the room here today? 

A. No. 

MJ: Questions in light of that? 



APROS: Yes, sir. Just very briefly. 

Questions by the assistant prosecutor: 

Q. Ma'am, I see on your questionnaire that you have a law 

degree. Is that right? 

A. Correct. 

Q. While you were in law school, did you focus on any specific 

area of the curriculum or was it general courses? 

A. General courses, but intellectual property. 

Q. With an expertise track, or was it just something that you 

had just more courses in than anything else? 

A. More courses than anything else. 

APROS: That's all, sir. Thank you. 

DDC: No questions from the defense, Your Honor. 

MJ: All right, Colonel, thank you very much. You can step back 

into the deliberation room, please. 

[Lieutenant Colonel [REDACTED] departed the courtroom.] 

MJ: Does either side wish to recall any member for any 

additional voir dire? 

APROS: No, sir. 

DDC: Defense does not, Your Honor. 

MJ: Does the government have any challenge for cause? 

APROS: No challenges for cause, sir. 

MJ: Does the defense have any challenge for cause? 



DDC: None for cause, Your Honor. 

MJ: Does the government have a peremptory challenge? 

APROS: Yes, sir. The government would like to exercise a 

peremptory challenge against Lieutenant Colonel [REDACTED]. 

MJ: Any objection to that? 

DDC: Yes, sir. We would ask that the government have to state 

a basis similar to a Batson challenge. 

MJ: Okay. Does the government have a non-gender basis for that 

challenge? 

APROS: Yes, sir. The specific challenge to this member comes 

directly out of answers she provided in her questionnaire, 

specifically 13, 17, and 20. 

MJ: And those are referring to the questionnaires that are in 

Appellate Exhibit 31. Is that correct? 

APROS: That's correct, sir. 

MJ: Could you restate those numbers, please? 

APROS: Yes, sir, certainly; 13, 17, and 20, sir. 

MJ: All right, the government's peremptory challenge to 

Lieutenant Colonel [REDACTED] is granted. Does the defense have any 

peremptory challenge? 

DDC: Yes, sir. The defense would peremptory challenge Captain 

[REDACTED]. 

MJ: Any objection to that? 



APROS: No, sir. 

MJ: Very well. That peremptory challenge is granted as well. 

When the members return, I'll advise them that Lieutenant Colonel 

[REDACTED] and Captain [REDACTED] will be excused. That will reduce 

our panel to 8 members. The statutory requirement is 5. With the 

remaining members, the commission will meet that requirement. Once I 

excuse them, we could go straight into the presentencing hearing or 

take a short break if you wish. I don't want it to be too long 

because then we'll be coming onto a meal time break as well. I'll 

solicit your input on that. 

You look like you're ready to provide input. Go ahead. 

DDC: Yes, sir. Mr. Hicks would like to have a short break. 

MJ: Okay. Please recall all the members at this time. 

[The bailiff did as directed.] 

Bailiff: All rise. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

[The members entered the courtroom.] 

[END OF PAGE] 



[The commission was cal led t o  order a t  1553 hours, 30 March 2007.1 

MJ: Members, before you are seated, Captain [REDACTED] and 

Lieutenant Colonel [REDACTED], you have been excused from these 

proceedings and your presence is no longer required. I thank you 

very much for being here today. You may leave the courtroom at this 

time and collect up any personal matters you left in the deliberation 

room. You are discharged with my thanks. 

[Captain [REDACTED] and Lieutenant Colonel [REDACTED], the excused 

members, departed the courtroom.] 

MJ: With regard to the rest of the members, we're now going to 

take a brief recess to reorganize your box there and take a comfort 

break. I plan to restart these proceedings as soon as possible, 

hopefully within 20 to 30 minutes. It takes some time to do things. 

The members may go back to the deliberation room. If you want to use 

the restroom facilities, right when you go out would be the best time 

to do that. 

[The members departed the courtroom.] 

MJ: Let's see if we can start at 1620. We're in recess. 

[The commission recessed a t  1555 hours, 30 March 2007.1 

[The session was cal led t o  order a t  1623 hours, 30 March 2007.1 

MJ: This military commission will come back to order. All 

parties present when we recessed are again present. The members are 

absent. 



1 P l e a s e  r e c a l l  a l l  t h e  members t o  t h e  cour t room.  

2 [The b a i l i f f  d i d  a s  d i r e c t e d  and t h e  members e n t e r e d  t h e  c o u r t r o o m . ]  

3 B a i l i f f :  A l l  r i s e .  

4 [ A l l  p e r s o n s  i n  t h e  cour t room d i d  a s  d i r e c t e d . ]  

5 [END O F  PAGE] 



[The conunission was ca l l ed  t o  order  a t  1624 hours,  30 March 2007.1 

MJ: Members, please be seated. 

[The members did as directed.] 

MJ: Everyone, please be seated. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

MJ: Members, I have previously admitted into evidence 

Prosecution Exhibit 1 which is a stipulation of fact. A copy of 

Prosecution Exhibit 1 will be handed to you now to read before we 

continue and you will have it with you during deliberations. 

Trial counsel, do you have copies? 

PROS: Yes, sir. 

MJ: If you could please hand them to the bailiff. 

[The prosecutor handed the copies to the bailiff.] 

MJ: Bailiff, you can give them to the members. 

[The bailiff handed out copies of PE 1 to the panel members.] 

MJ: Members, go ahead and take an opportunity to read through 

that, please. Simply look up when you're done. 

[All members did as directed.] 

MJ: Does any member desire any additional time to review 

Prosecution Exhibit l? 

Negative response. 

Anything further from the prosecution? 

PROS: No, Your Honor. The government rests. 



MJ: Defense counsel, you may proceed. 

DDC: Yes, sir. The defense offers no documentary evidence 

besides the stipulation of fact that it agreed to. I will exercise 

Mr. Hicks' unsworn statement rights and provide a statement to the 

members. 

MJ: Very well. 

UNSWORN STATEMENT 

David Matthew Hicks, the accused through his detailed defense 

counsel, made the following unsworn statement: 

DDC: Members, David Hicks is very nervous today so he has asked 

that I provide information to you on his behalf. He means no 

disrespect by this request. In May of 1998 at the age of 22, David 

went to Japan to work on a horse farm. This was the first time he 

traveled outside of Australia. Injured in a fall from a horse, he 

returned home in August of 1998. He went home, recuperated, and went 

back to Japan to work on a horse farm in December of 1998. 

At the age of 23, in May of '99, David traveled to Albania 

from Japan to join the KLA, Kosovo Liberation Army. Once returning 

from Albania and back in Australia in June of '99, David went to 

visit Kosovo refugees near his hometown in his KLA uniform and he was 

well received by them. David contacted on Australian Army recruiter 

and was told that he did not have the education qualifications to 



enlist. At the age of 24 in November of '99, David left Australia 

for Pakistan. 

David has been in the US custody since approximately 2001. 

Throughout his time in US custody, David feels he tried his best to 

provide information to US investigators. Even after David Hicks had 

legal counsel and faced a possible trial before military commission, 

David Hicks still provided information to US investigators and 

different federal agencies. 

While at Guantsnamo, David has worked by correspondence on 

his high school qualifications as he had never finished grade nine. 

He has completed up to year 11 math and English. He wants to finish 

his high school education and hopefully attend university. While not 

perfect, David feels he's tried his best to behave at Guantsnamo. In 

February of 2007, Admiral Harris, the current JTF Guantsnamo 

Commander told the media that David was generally cooperative for the 

more than 5 years he's been at Guantsnamo. 

David owes apologies to many people. Foremost David 

apologizes to his family, he apologizes to Australia, he apologizes 

to the United States. David wants to acknowledge the many men and 

women of the US military who have treated him with professionalism 

and humanity while he's been here at Guantsnamo Bay. David wants to 

thank all Australians who have extended compassion and forgiveness 



towards him during his time in GuantAnamo. He pledges not to betray 

their support. 

Thank you, sir. The defense rests. 

MJ: Does the government have a case in rebuttal? 

APROS: Your Honor, could we have 30 seconds to confirm? 

MJ: Go ahead. 

[The prosecutor and assistant prosecutor conferred.] 

APROS: Sir, the government has no case in rebuttal. 

MJ: Very well. As previously noted, I provided counsel with my 

planned sentencing instructions in this case and at one point you 

indicated you had no objections or requests for any other 

instructions. Are there any such objections or requests now? 

PROS: No, sir. 

DDC: Defense has none, sir. 

MJ: Very well. 

Members, you are about to deliberate and vote on the 

sentence in this case. It is the duty of each member to vote for a 

proper sentence for the offense of which the accused has been found 

guilty. Your determination of the amount of punishment, if any, is a 

grave responsibility requiring the exercise of wise discretion. 

Although you must give due consideration to the matters presented by 

the defense, as well as those presented by the prosecution, you must 



bear in mind that the accused is to be sentenced only for the offense 

of which he has been found guilty. 

PROS: Your Honor, excuse me. May I be heard? 

MJ: About what? 

PROS: Counsel's argument. 

MJ: Okay. I'm getting a little ahead of myself. I'm going to 

provide an opportunity for the counsel to argue on sentence. Thank 

you. 

Trial counsel, you may present argument. 

PROS: Thank you, sir. Your Honor, may I use the podium? 

MJ: Yes. 

PROS: Today in this courtroom we are on the frontline of a 

global war on terrorism, face to face with the enemy. The enemy is 

sitting at defense counsel's table and though he is now in a suit and 

tie, you can be assured that when he was on the battlefield in 

Afghanistan with a1 Qaeda going north and south trying to kill 

Americans, he was not wearing a suit and tie. Nor was he wearing a 

uniform. In fact, he was an unlawful enemy combatant. 

Gentlemen, the global war on terrorism is real. It is 

affecting every aspect of our life. It is not just a literal battle 

between armed forces of the United States and its allies -- staunch 

allies such as Australia versus a1 Qaeda and its associated forces of 

terrorists. In some ways the global war on terrorism is more about a 



figurative battle of ideologies. Though still a literal fight to the 

death, the global war on terrorism really is about those who love 

lives and freedoms like people of the United States and Australia 

versus those who hate our freedoms and want to do everything to kill 

anyone associated with those freedoms. 

The enemy before you has been fighting that very battle 

with himself as well as literally against the United States. As for 

a battle with the United States, Prosecution Exhibit 1 leaves no 

doubt that that enemy wanted to kill Americans. As for the battle of 

beliefs, within this enemy what you have here is David Hicks the 

Australian. He was born and raised in Australia. For 24 years he 

lived under their freedoms, freedoms similar to the United States in 

that they're our cornerstones for democracy where you openly elect 

your leaders; freedom of religion where you choose whether and how to 

worship; freedom of association where you choose where to work, where 

to live, what to wear, what to believe. 

However, at the mature age of 24, this enemy, the David 

Hicks of Australia, freely chose to walk away from those freedoms. 

But even worse, he freely chose to associate with a1 Qaeda, to 

include providing material support to this international terrorist 

organization. This is a war crime for which he has been convicted. 

The enemy here has joined forces with a1 Qaeda. 



A1 Qaeda is the antithesis of freedom. A1 Qaeda is an 

international terrorist organization. It is a collection of 

terrorists from all over the world for the sole reason of bringing 

death and destruction to nations and its people such as the United 

States and Australia and other members of the coalition forces. 

Australia was a member of the coalition forces in Afghanistan. There 

is no doubt what a1 Qaeda is about. A1 Qaeda has openly declared war 

against the United States. 

I remind you and bring to your attention Prosecution 

Exhibit 1, the stipulation of fact signed by David Hicks, at 

paragraphs 17 and 20. Seventeen states that the purpose and goal of 

a1 Qaeda stated by Usama bin Laden and other a1 Qaeda leaders is for 

violent attacks against property both military and civilians of the 

United States and other countries for the purpose of opposing the US 

support of Israel, another friend and ally of the United States. 

Number 20 is in August of '96, Usama bin Laden had declared a 

declaration of jihad, calling on the murder of US military personnel. 

But a1 Qaeda doesn't stop against declaring war against the United 

States government or even targeting its military. A1 Qaeda has gone 

after our citizens, our civilians, issuing a fatwa calling on all 

Muslims who are able to kill Americans, whether civilian or military, 

wherever they may find them. 



Though I'm sure every one of your memories does not need 

refreshing about what happened on 9/11 and that horrendous attack by 

a1 Qaeda against the United States. I will remind you and bring up 

later just what that infamous day has in relation to this enemy. 

This enemy didn't have to hear about a1 Qaeda's hatred for the United 

States or for Western ideas by reading it in the paper -- the 

Australian newspaper or even on the Internet. He saw it firsthand. 

He met Usama bin Laden. He heard UBL's speeches, how he 

spewed hatred for America, for our friendship with Israel. This 

enemy fully embraced a1 Qaeda. He even asked UBL why there wasn't 

more training materials in English. Nonetheless, this enemy got 

plenty of training by a1 Qaeda. For close to a year he received over 

four a1 Qaeda terrorist training courses at their camps, to include 

during that timeframe joining with a1 Qaeda and fighting with a1 

Qaeda on two battle fronts until he was finally captured in December 

2001. 

Now from the moment this enemy met a1 Qaeda which was 

around January 2001, the David Hicks of Australia became Muhammad 

Dawood of a1 Qaeda. Muhammad Dawood was just one of a number of 

aliases. Abu Muslim Australia was another. Now in French these may 

be referred to as "noms de guerre" -- war names. In Arabic and for 

a1 Qaeda's purposes they were "kunyas" -- jihad or holy war names. 



Now Muhammad Dawood chose to conceal his identity to train 

with a1 Qaeda. He did this for a few reasons. One, to avoid 

detection and not be apprehended as a terrorist, but more importantly 

Muhammad Dawood wanted to train with a1 Qaeda so he could return free 

and virtually invisible to a Western society with the training that 

he had and effectively do a1 Qaeda's deadly work. There was no doubt 

that a1 Qaeda saw in Muhammad Dawood an invaluable asset. 

Now maybe that made Muhammad Dawood feel good. He 

shouldn't have. A1 Qaeda places zero value on life. It utilizes 

suicide bombers, innocent children both as decoys and victims. 

Muhammad Dawood shouldn't feel good about himself. Who knows, as he 

sits here or if he'll ever know that by providing material support 

for terrorism all he has become is a mere tool for terrorism. Proof 

of that is found in Prosecution Exhibit 1, paragraph 31 were Muhammad 

Dawood meets Muhammad Atef, a1 Qaeda's number three leader and chief 

a1 Qaeda military commander. Don't let that mislead you. That 

military commander is a term a1 Qaeda might have used on him. Their 

military had no semblance of a bona fide armed force. No uniforms, 

no following the laws of war. 

But Muhammad Dawood met with Muhammad Atef and he was 

screened. He was screened about his knowledge of UBL, about a1 

Qaeda, about his ability to travel around the world as a Westerner -- 

as an Australian, specifically to Israel. If not for the US, a1 



Qaeda probably hated Israel more than the US for its freedoms but 

also because of the holy land. But a1 Qaeda diabolically uses our 

Western freedoms against us. 

Now Muhammad Dawood, he can still when he wants to fool 

someone. He can dress up. He can look like David Hicks again. This 

enemy here can look on the outside to be a Westerner, to be a law- 

abiding Australian citizen. These features allow him to blend in 

with virtually any of the free Western societies. That's why this 

enemy, a1 Qaeda, chose to send him to some of their advanced courses. 

Muhammad Dawood's last two a1 Qaeda trainings were some of the most 

telling for why a1 Qaeda trusted in him and wanted to develop him. 

After attending the basic training and the guerrilla 

training, he went on to -- after also meeting with Atef -- he went on 

to be able to go to a city tactics training where they train on a 

mock city. There they learn such terrorist tactics as how to kidnap 

and how to assassinate. From there Muhammad Dawood would move on to 

the surveillance course. At this course the a1 Qaeda instructor 

cited the USS Cole bombing as a positive example of what their 

training can do for them. Paragraph 33 of Prosecution Exhibit 1 

details of Muhammad Dawood and other student operatives -- is what 

they call themselves -- doing for practical exercises. They actually 

submitted real world surveillance to a1 Qaeda. 



One of those surveillances was on the American embassy in 

Kabul. Now on that point, don't for a minute be fooled that there is 

somehow something harmless about doing practical exercises on an 

American embassy building that may not have had diplomatic relations, 

may not have even been occupied, this was not a Boy Scout activity 

that Muhammad Dawood was doing. It is absolutely immaterial what 

that building was being used for at the time. Yes, what he acquired 

was limited to that building, but the real purpose for that training 

was to teach him terrorist skills and those terrorist skills are 

transferable. 

Now what matters to a1 Qaeda is that once they possess this 

information it is still death data. They could still use it if that 

building is ever occupied at a later date. I point to prosecution 

exhibit 24 -- excuse me, Prosecution Exhibit 1, paragraph 24. It 

references what a1 Qaeda does with information about embassies and it 

has embassies of Kenya and Tanzania in '98 and how a1 Qaeda destroyed 

them. Now do you think that when Muhammad Dawood was attending the 

surveillance course that the instructor specifically cites to you the 

USS Cole bombing as a positive example and that Cole bombing occurred 

in October of 2000, do you think he might have mentioned the Kenya 

and Tanzania bombings that occurred in '98 when he is sending them 

specifically out to conduct surveillance on embassies? That's what 

he's training on. 



As I mentioned, what matters most about that skill is that 

it is transferable. It's not laughable that it could be a criminal 

offense, and it was by providing material support. Once that 

terrorist skill is required, it travels with Muhammad Dawood to 

whatever country he goes to. He knows what kind of information a1 

Qaeda wants. He knows also how to get it to them. He will always 

know how to get it to them. 

When you conduct that surveillance on a building, you 

provide to a1 Qaeda what's the moral equivalent of providing raw 

materials to a time bomb to someone you know that can assemble and 

detonate it. Now Muhammad Dawood, he's an enemy who will always 

possess the skills he has. You will never be able to get rid of his 

training with a1 Qaeda, his terrorist knowledge, the people he knows, 

the inner workings of a1 Qaeda. If he wanted to make connection with 

them, he could. 

Muhammad Dawood always will be a threat unless he changes 

his beliefs, his extremist ideology. Now how strong are Muhammad 

Dawood's beliefs? Well 9/11 is a microcosm of that. On 9/11 that 

day we were being attacked by a1 Qaeda, Muhammad Dawood was in 

Pakistan at a friend's watching those attacks. He had just returned 

from a few days in August of 2001 attending that surveillance course, 

his fourth a1 Qaeda training. Now watching that attack, he expressed 

approval and that comes from his own friend's evidence. Was his 



friend's perception accurate? Well look at Muhammad Dawood's actions 

after 9/11. 

The next day he returns -- he goes from Pakistan back into 

Afghanistan. He was in Pakistan with his Australian passport and 

once again with the liberty and the freedom to return, to travel 

anywhere but chooses -- he freely chooses to go back in the fight and 

join up and rejoins with a1 Qaeda. He reports for duty to a1 Qaeda 

and this is even after watching the 9/11 attacks and seeing those 

planes used as fuel, the missiles, the people around them. 

How he could have safely stayed out of that fight. He 

could have stayed in Pakistan. He did not have to go into 

Afghanistan. He could have returned to Australia with his passport, 

but he went into Afghanistan because he knew America was coming after 

a1 Qaeda, and he wanted to help them out. 

Now when he got to his first battle position in Kandahar 

and acquired his AK-47, acquired his rounds, acquired his hand 

grenades, he wasn't satisfied that the enemy wasn't showing fast 

enough. So he goes out of his way and traverses hundreds of miles 

from the south in Kandahar, Afghanistan, up to Kabul up to Konduz for 

another battle. Now do you think he really wanted to kill Americans? 

If he didn't, he could have stayed in Pakistan. If he didn't want to 

kill Americans, he could have stayed in Kandahar. Even better, if he 



didn't want to kill Americans, he could have stayed in Australia. 

But he chose to go up to the battle were he heard the action was. 

Now the fact that when he got up there they had to go into 

full retreat within hours, that's not a reflection of his character, 

of his intent. There is no voluntary withdrawal there. There is no 

moral mitigation. The only reason he stopped fighting was because he 

was captured. But for him being captured, if he was able to and 

managed to flee to Pakistan like he tried to after Konduz fell and he 

went back into the city; if he was able to flee again to Pakistan, 

there was every reason to believe he would again eventually have 

joined up with a1 Qaeda's forces. Why? Because he did that very 

thing on 9/11. He was so called free of a1 Qaeda after their 

training and he voluntarily went back to them. 

Now the enemy of Muhammad Dawood sits here today. There is 

no way of knowing when you look at him whether he truly knows what he 

did was wrong, or will ever appreciate it. All we know for a fact is 

that he does possess the skill of a terrorist, and the free David 

Hicks who chose to leave Australia at the age of 24 and train with a1 

Qaeda and take up arms against the US on two fronts, he didn't stop 

until he was captured. Now that he's been captured and convicted of 

a war crime, what is a just punishment? 

Well there's basically three reasons to punish someone. 

You have your retribution, a mere measure of justice for what has 



been done. You have your specific deterrence to stop him from doing 

again. And you have general deterrence to stop others from following 

in his footsteps. That's where you get to the real damage of a 

Muhammad Dawood. He is known throughout the world. He had left a 

free society to join up with a1 Qaeda. Other confused, lost souls 

might follow in his footsteps. Certainly, even a1 Qaeda being able 

to tout a Westerner who left our freedoms to join a1 Qaeda, that 

helps their recruiting goals. That helps prolong the global war on 

terrorism. That's damage Muhammad Dawood has done that can never be 

undone. 

But the most compelling reason to punish Muhammad Dawood is 

simply for what he has done and to prevent him from repeating those 

acts and one way to do that is while he's in confinement, we know he 

can't do it again. David Hicks -- not Muhammad Dawood, but David 

Hicks walked away from Australian freedoms at the age of 24 only to 

travel thousands of miles to attack the United States' freedoms. 

Muhammad Dawood, as he sits there, he's still a vigorous 31. But 

maybe being sentenced to the maximum authorized might help David 

Hicks, the Australian, reemerge. To help him come to his senses 

again to what the value is to live in a free society and not abuse 

those privileges by trying to attack them and kill its people. 

But because we can never know that, what should be done is 

that Muhammad Dawood who sits there, he should not experience true 



freedom again for at least the next 7 years. So on behalf of the 

United States government, that without any doubt, reservation, or 

apology, the prosecution recommends that you sentence this enemy to 

the maximum authorized punishment -- to be confined for a period of 7 

years. Thank you. 

DDC: Sir, may I approach the podium? 

MJ: Yes, and you may argue. 

DDC: Good afternoon, members. You're here to punish David 

Hicks, set a sentence for him, for what he did -- the offense he 

violated. When the prosecutor got up here and started having to use 

analogies about David Hicks, why did they have to do that? Why does 

the prosecutor have to stand up here and say, "It was like putting 

the parts to a bomb together"? It's an analogy, means he didn't do 

it. The prosecutor stood up here and spit hate and wanted to rile 

your emotions up and wanted to tell you, he met Usama bin Laden, so 

give him the max. He was a Westerner who actually thought he might 

explore Islam, give him the max punishment. 

But that's not the offense that you need to punish him for, 

and I do not want to minimize at all the offense that David Hicks has 

been found guilty of. He was found guilty of providing material 

support to an international terrorist organization. Understand what 

that is. That's not support to commit a terrorist act. 



All the attacks that they list in Prosecution Exhibit 1, is 

there anything in the stip of fact that says, David Hicks provided 

one ounce of support to help those actual attacks? No. And what's 

not in the stip speaks louder than what is. Does anywhere in that 

stip say David Hicks hurt anyone? It doesn't. Does it say David 

Hicks shot at a US Special Forces soldier in Afghanistan? It 

doesn't. Does it say David Hicks planted a mine to attack US forces? 

No. 

It actually says what did David Hicks do in the actual 

sphere of combat in Afghanistan was he sat in a trench at the airport 

and got bombed. He stood at a tank that never fired. Then as he got 

up to the front up near Konduz, he was there for 2 hours -- it 

doesn't say he shot at anyone. Then he ran away for 3 days. 

Let's take a step back and say a little bit about who David 

Hicks is, because you have to sentence the individual David Hicks. 

He's a young man who left Australia for the first time to go work in 

Japan. He then worked in Japan a second time, and then he traveled 

to Kosovo and Albania to join the KLA. He was there for 4 weeks and 

came right back and went to go visit Kosovo refugees. Obviously the 

experience must have got him interested in the military because 

that's what he next sought to do -- to join the Australian military, 

but he never finished in ninth grade and didn't have the 

qualifications. 



Then he was in Pakistan and he joined with Lashkar-e 

Tayyiba. Now why isn't Lashkar-e Tayyiba on the charge sheet? Why 

isn't he being charged with a crime for being with Lashkar-e Tayyiba? 

Why? Because it's not a crime. 

PROS: Objection. 

MJ: Basis? 

PROS: Misstatement of law, sir. 

MJ: I'm sorry, I didn't hear you. 

PROS: I said, "misstatement of law," sir. 

DDC: Should I respond, sir? 

MJ: Members, at this time I'm going to ask that you step into 

the deliberation room, please. 

Bailiff: All rise. 

[The members departed the courtroom.] 

[END OF PAGE] 
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MJ: Everyone, please be seated. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

MJ: Why don't you go back to your table. You can leave those 

things there if you want. 

DDC: I just need them for reference, sir. 

[The detailed defense counsel returned to defense table.] 

MJ: Government, why don't you go ahead and explain to me your 

obj ection. 

PROS: Yes, sir. Sir, defense stated that supporting Lashkar-e 

Tayyiba is not a crime. Lashkar-e Tayyiba -- though the accused has 

not been charged with that -- Lashkar-e Tayyiba (LET) is listed as an 

FTO just as a1 Qaeda has been. An international organization 

includes FTO's. So providing support to LET is in fact providing 

support to an international terrorist organization. So to say that 

providing support to LET is not a crime is a misstatement of the law. 

What prosecution is willing to acknowledge is that he has not been 

charged with that offense. 

MJ: Okay. Major Mori? 

DDC: Sir, I was under the impression -- and if I'm mistaken -- 

that Lashkar-e Tayyiba was not a prohibited organization until 26 

December 2001. As such, it wouldn't have been prohibited. 

MJ: You say it was not listed until when? 



DDC: It was not listed -- if you look at the stip the fact, 

paragraph six, it was designated a federal [sic] terrorist 

organization on 26 December 2001, after David Hicks was already in US 

custody. 

MJ: Okay. Government. 

PROS: Sir, the FTO is only one designation. It does not mean 

that you wouldn't be able to prove they were an international 

terrorist organization otherwise. I did not hear a qualification 

that provides support to LET up until 2001 would not have been a 

crime. It was simply stated that it was not a crime. 

MJ: Okay. Major Mori, you also stated that -- or were making 

the argument that why isn't what he was doing with LET not on the 

charge sheet which actually it is, right? It is part of the factual 

allegations that are part of the charge sheet. Isn't that correct? 

DDC: Yes, sir. I was going to distinguish -- I was going to 

continue and distinguish between what was in the stip of fact, the 

full paragraphs and the stip of fact and what's in the cleansed 

charge sheet. I could begin my argument and I will clarify my point 

that -- I will just reference to the members that it was -- I was 

referring to the designation. It was not designated a foreign 

terrorist organization and pick up from there, sir. 

MJ: [Pause.] Would the government's concern be addressed if 

during the course of his argument he clarified that at the time that 



he was interacting with this LET, they had not yet been designated as 

a foreign terrorist organization, and then referencing paragraph six 

of the stipulation which shows that they were not designated at that 

time, but then also shows that they were designated sometime 

thereafter which would be indicating then that that is a distinction 

which the members I think will then take on board and to give it some 

weight. Would that satisfy your concern? 

PROS: If they also could include, sir -- the government just 

does not want to concede that even with the statement that the 

conduct occurred before LET was an FTO would therefore not constitute 

a crime. Our position is that you could still prove an international 

terrorist organization without being an FTO. So I think a solution 

may be to simply have defense explain that what they meant was simply 

that -- that they had not been designated an FTO and somehow withdraw 

the idea that it's still not a crime to provide support before or 

after. 

MJ: [Pauses to write notes.] Okay. I'm going to read 

something that I have drafted up here which may satisfy the concerns 

of both parties. I'd like you just to listen to it and then if it 

correctly addresses those things, the next issue would be whether I 

would read it myself as a matter of clarification, or whether the 

defense counsel can just put this in his argument. It would start 



before the defense counsel continues or before I continue, depending 

on who's reading it. 

I'd like to clarify my remark -- or the remark -- about Mr. 

Hicks' association with LET during the time period in question. As 

agreed to by the prosecution and defense and Mr. Hicks in the 

stipulation of fact, a1 Qaeda was designated as an FTO and thereby 

automatically recognized under US law as an international terrorist 

organization in October 1999. The LET, however, was not similarly 

designated under US law until 26 December 2001, which was after the 

time Mr. Hicks had already been captured. Accordingly, it may be 

subject to dispute whether his association with that organization 

standing alone would be found to be a violation of US law. 

PROS: Government is satisfied with that, sir. 

MJ: Because that leaves the stipulation intact ---- 

DDC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: ---- it leaves a point worthy of note in your argument ---- 

DDC: Yes, sir. 

PROS: Your Honor, I know you provided defense the option, the 

government preference ---- 

MJ: I didn't provide them the option, I just said we're 

thinking about it right now. I wanted to first deal with the 

language and then we'll get to the best way to pitch it either 

through instruction or his argument. 



So let me ask you first. Once again, you're happy with the 

language? 

DDC: Yes, sir. Fine. 

MJ: Okay. Mobr brhat brould be your preference? 

DDC: I think you're instruction will be fine, sir. 

MJ: Okay, couched very similarly as in basically my typical 

deadpan. Okay? 

DDC: Yes, sir. 

IvIJ: Okay. 

PROS: And that's the government preferences as well, sir. 

MJ: Well, very good then. All right, let's recall the members. 

[The bailiff did as directed.] 

Bailiff: All rise. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

[The members entered the courtroom.] 

[END OF PAGE] 
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MJ: Members, please be seated. 

[The members did as directed.] 

MJ: Everyone, please be seated. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

MJ: Before Major Mori continues, I'd like to clarify one aspect 

about his remarks with regard to Mr. Hicks' association with the 

organization known as LET and discussed in the stipulation of fact 

and on the charge sheet that you have during the time period in 

question. 

As agreed to by the prosecution and defense and Mr. Hicks 

in the stipulation of fact, a1 Qaeda was designated as a foreign 

terrorist organization and thereby automatically recognized under US 

law as an international terrorist organization in October 1999. The 

LET, however, was not similarly designated under US law until 26 

December 2001, which was after Mr. Hicks had already been captured. 

Accordingly, it may be subject to dispute whether his association 

with that organization standing alone would be found to be a 

violation of US law. 

Major Mori, you may continue. 

DDC: Members, I would like to address a little bit on what 

drove David Hicks. The government stood up here and said it was 

anti-West. I think if you look at the facts in the stip of fact then 



you see how David's involvement -- and from the unsworn statement -- 

David's involvement that ended up leading to him being in a 

battlefield in Afghanistan began back in the Kosovo liberation. He 

only went to train there and he came back and what was his desire? 

To join the Australian Army. Then he went to Pakistan and he got 

involved with Lashkar-e Tayyiba and the only time he actually fired 

at someone is when he's shooting at a bunker. Does that sound like a 

soldier or does that sound like a terrorist? 

Now granted, he might have just wanted to be a wannabe. A 

wannabe soldier because he didn't have the education to join a real 

service. And what did he do in Afghanistan. In the conflict, did he 

act like a terrorist, or did he act like a soldier? I submit that he 

acted like a soldier. The government would say he went through all 

this training and you should punish him for what might have happened. 

You should punish him for taking training, for people he met. But 

that's not what you need to punish him for. You need to punish him 

for what he did, and what he did was provide support as a soldier. 

His person --he provided his person and he guarded a tank and he sat 

in the trench and was bombed for it. 

Have there been consequences for David Hicks? Because 

that's what you need to factor in what the appropriate sentence 

should be. The government says to max him. There is no question. 

Most of the prosecutor's argument was why David is guilty. How do we 



know why he's guilty? Because David accepted responsibility and pled 

guilty. That's not in contention here. We are not arguing whether 

this is or whether this is not a violation, we're talking how much 

punishment and does David Hicks rate the most severe punishment for 

it. Is the facts of David Hicks' case really deserving of 7 years 

punishment. 

The consequences he's already suffered is one, he was 

bombed. He was shot at by the Northern Alliance running away. He 

was scared and I think he finally got his first taste of what really 

serving in a combat zone was for those 2 hours running away from the 

Northern Alliance. It was something he didn't like and he ran away. 

The wannabe finally got a real taste of it, and he ran away. 

Then you see in the stipulation of fact he gets back to 

Konduz and the other Arab fighters are saying "we're going to fight 

to the death" -- he says, "I'm out of here," and he left. That's 

when he made a decision, I'm out of here, this is not for me. He 

sought out the shopkeeper who took him in and took pity on him. Does 

that rate 7 years? Does he rate the maximum punishment for this? 

Now members, you're going to hear and I anticipate the 

judge will instruct you that a commission is different than a court- 

martial. Many of you have experienced a court-martial where someone 

who may be in the brig prior to a court-martial gets credit for that 

time served. In a military commission, that is not the case. The 



judge will instruct you on that. So the sentence -- you should not 

adjudge in excess of sentence thinking that he will get credit for 

the 5 years and 4 months he has already sat in a cell and thought 

about the conduct that brought him here today. We're not talking 

about someone that you need to punish for what just happened last 

year. We are talking about punishing someone who has already sat in 

a cell and had to think about it. 

Now the prosecutor would like you to think that David hates 

the West. He hates America, and he hates America so much that he 

started cooperating with the US investigators right away. Does that 

make sense? Of course not. He cooperated with US investigators 

because he doesn't hate America. Why would he collaborate with 

investigators even after facing criminal proceedings and he's willing 

still to participate and assist US federal agencies. Because he has 

no personal animosity against you or I or Americans. 

Why does he behave here? Why did he try to behave? Why 

would the commander of Guantsnamo Bay just last month say for over 5 

years generally he's been compliant? Is that the a1 Qaeda secret 

trick, you know, you give them all the information they want and then 

behave really well and they'll let you go? No. His heart wasn't 

with a1 Qaeda. He wanted to be a soldier and actually this was the 

only place he could do it. He shouldn't have been there. I'm not 

minimizing him being there. But it wasn't out of hate and it wasn't 



out of supporting or actually accomplishing or assisting any of the 

most severe and egregious things you see in that charge sheet that 

have nothing to do with David Hicks. 

David Hicks was not responsible one bit for blowing up the 

embassies in Africa. He was not responsible for the bombing against 

USS Cole, and he wasn't responsible for the September 11 attacks. 

And to even use as the prosecutor did that death and destruction can 

somehow describe as David Hicks when he hasn't hurt one person and 

yet they asked the maximum punishment for this offense. 

You need to consider -- I just want to address one thing 

before I get to sentencing factor and that was the government's 

theory that David Hicks is somehow the invaluable resource to a1 

Qaeda. The government by their sort of emotional plea to you that he 

somehow went from Usama bin Laden to David Hicks to the rest of a1 

Qaeda around the world. That's not the case. And how do we know 

that? What is the most objective facts that we know that David Hicks 

really -- even though we can't put anybody from a1 Qaeda here to 

testify -- that he was nothing but the PFC but they put in a trench. 

Because that's what they did. They put him in the trench at the 

airport. 

The government wants you to believe that David Hicks was 

somehow the Australian a1 Qaeda member who was willing to travel all 

around the world to do all this stuff and to punish him for what 



might have happened. But the reality is, David Hicks was put in a 

trench and I would think if I was a commander for a1 Qaeda if I had a 

Westerner who was willing to do that type of thing, it sounds like a 

pretty valuable person. And the government even recognizes that. 

That would be a valuable tool. Would any of you put that supposed 

valuable tool in a trench at an airport to be bombed? Would you 

assign him to guard the tank? Would you let him run off on his own 

up to Konduz and then run away? Because the most objective facts are 

that David Hicks was not an invaluable resource, he was a PFC run 

amuck, abandoning his post. 

You also have to recognize that David Hicks, because he is 

from Australia, your decision will have an impact and reach outside 

our nation and it will be important to consider, and to determine 

really based on what he did. That's what I'll ask for you to do. 

Really what he did and what is his consequences. 

I would like you to consider first of all the sentencing 

factor of rehabilitation, and the judge will instruct you on that. 

His plea of guilty establishes that he's already begun 

rehabilitation, but that happened now, 5 years and 4 years [sic] 

later. How do we know he's already rehabilitated? Because he 

started cooperating with US investigators from the first involvement 

with them. He's cooperated even after being charged. He's behaved 

at Guantsnamo. He started working on improving himself even here at 



Guantsnamo by taking correspondence courses in high school to improve 

his education. He's recognized that he needed his education and he 

started working hard to solve that. 

How much further punishment is it necessary for David Hicks 

to sit in his cell and think about what he's done? He's already done 

5 years and 4 months. The government wants you to send a message 

with David Hicks. The David Hicks people are going to know about. 

They asked for 7 years. The prosecutor asked you to make him sit in 

a cell for 7 years. He's already done 5 years and 4 months. He 

won't get credit for that. Even though the prosecutor says 7 years, 

you can give the prosecutor what he wants which is put David in jail 

for 7 years. You can do that by sentencing him to 1 year and 8 

months. That would be David Hicks has sat in his cell for 8 [sic] 

years to think about the conduct that put him there. 

Does he need to do a full 7 years more, or is 7 years 

enough? I would submit his behavior since coming initially into 

contact with US forces and cooperating, his behavior here at 

Guantanamo Bay for 5 years and 4 months. He hasn't behaved just for 

a few months in the brig before the trial, it's 5 years and 4 months. 

Significant representation of his rehabilitative potential. 

Is he a threat? Is Australia ever going to let him go? Is 

he somehow -- people are going to forget who he was or do you think 

he'll be watched? Easily, he'll be watched. People know his name. 



He's not a threat. And I think by providing him the opportunity 

after 1 year and 8 months from now to get out, to go back and finish 

his education, you'll give him the opportunity to not let down those 

people that have supported him. 

He sits here today recognizing the US service members who 

treated him kindly and professionally here. Why? Because that shows 

you the person he is. He is a big enough man to accept 

responsibility for his actions by pleading guilty and thanking those 

who have helped him. All I would like you to do is give him an 

opportunity to try to make a new start in life -- the new start that 

he's already started here with his education. Sentence him to 1 year 

and 8 months. You can give the prosecution their request and he'll 

spend 7 years in a cell. But you also give David Hicks an 

opportunity and you send a message that to have justice, you must 

also have mercy. Thank you. 

MJ: Members, you are about to deliberate and vote on the 

sentence in this case. It is the duty of each member to vote for a 

proper sentence for the offense of which the accused has been found 

guilty. Your determination of the amount of punishment, if any, is a 

grave responsibility requiring the exercise of wise discretion. 

Although you must give due consideration to the matters presented by 

the defense, as well as to those presented by the prosecution, you 



must bear in mind that the accused is to be sentenced only for the 

offense to which he has been found guilty. 

Some of you may have experience with courts-martial wherein 

an accused is given credit for confinement served prior to trial. 

This is not the case at a military commission or upon review of the 

commission's sentence. Therefore, you must not adjudge an excessive 

sentence in reliance upon any possible credit for Mr. Hicks' 

detention prior to today's session. You must not adjudge an 

excessive sentence in reliance upon possible mitigating action by the 

convening authority or some other authority. 

The maximum punishment that may be adjudged in this case is 

confinement for a period of 7 years. The maximum punishment is a 

ceiling on your discretion. You are at liberty to arrive at any 

lesser legal sentence. In adjudging a sentence in this case, you are 

restricted to adjudging confinement or you may adjudge no punishment. 

There are several matters which you should consider in 

determining an appropriate sentence. You should bear in mind that 

our society recognizes many reasons for the sentence of those who 

violate the law. They include rehabilitation of the wrongdoer, 

punishment of the wrongdoer, protection of society from the 

wrongdoer, and deterrence of the wrongdoer and those who know of his 

crime and his sentence from committing the same or similar offenses. 

The weight to be given to any or all of these reasons along with all 



other sentencing matters in this case rests solely within your 

discretion. 

Now I'll review the types of punishment you can adjudge. I 

have already indicated that this commission may sentence the accused 

to confinement for a period not to exceed 7 years. You may also 

sentence the accused to no punishment. In selecting a sentence, you 

should consider all of the matters presented by the defense and the 

prosecution. Thus, all the evidence you have heard in this case is 

relevant on the subject of sentencing. 

You should consider evidence admitted as to the nature of 

the offense of which the accused stands convicted, plus matters to 

include: the accused's age of 31 years; the accused's education, the 

highest level of education which the accused obtained was the eighth 

grade; that the accused has been detained for approximately 5 years 

and 4 months; that the accused is a citizen of Australia. 

The commission will not draw any adverse inference from the 

fact that the accused has elected to make a statement which is not 

under oath. An unsworn statement as was made in his case is an 

authorized means for the accused to bring information to the 

attention of the commission and must be given appropriate 

consideration. The accused cannot be cross-examined by the 

prosecution or interrogated by the members of the commission or by me 

upon an unsworn statement, but the prosecution may offer evidence to 



rebut statements of fact contained in an unsworn statement. The 

weight and significance to be attached to an unsworn statement rests 

within the sound discretion of each member. You may consider that 

the statement is not under oath, its inherent probability or 

improbability, whether it is supported or contradicted by the 

evidence in the case, as well as any other matter that might have a 

bearing upon its credibility. In weighing an unsworn statement, you 

are expected to use your common sense and your knowledge of human 

nature and the ways of the world. 

A plea of guilty is a matter in mitigation which must be 

considered along with all the other facts and circumstances of the 

case. Considerable time, effort, and expense to the government have 

been saved by the accused's plea of guilty in this case. Such a plea 

may demonstrate the accused's willingness to take responsibility for 

his conduct and it may be the first step towards rehabilitation. 

During their arguments, trial and defense counsel recommend 

that you consider a specific sentence -- or two different specific 

sentences in this case. You are advised that the arguments of 

counsel are their recommendations, and are only individual 

suggestions and may not be considered as the recommendation or 

opinion of anyone other than the counsel. 

Members, when you close to deliberate and vote, only the 

members will be present. I remind you that you must all remain 



together in the deliberation room during all of the deliberations. I 

also remind you that you may not allow any unauthorized intrusion 

into your deliberations. You may not make communications to or 

receive communications from anyone outside the deliberation room, by 

telephone or otherwise. 

Should you need to take a recess or have a question, or 

when you have reached a decision, you may notify the bailiff who will 

be stationed outside the deliberation room who will then notify me of 

your desire to return to open session to make your desires or 

decision known. 

Your deliberations should begin with a full and free 

discussion on the subject of sentencing. The influence of 

superiority in rank shall not be employed in any manner to control 

the independence of the members in the exercise of their judgment. 

When you have completed your discussion, then any member who desires 

to do so may propose a sentence. You do that by writing it out on a 

slip of paper and writing out a complete sentence. The junior member 

collects the proposed sentences and submits them to the president, 

who will then arrange them in order of their severity. 

You then vote on the proposed sentences by secret, written 

ballot. All of you must vote, and you may not abstain from the vote. 

You vote on each proposed sentence in its entirety, beginning with 



the lightest that has been proposed, until you arrive at the required 

concurrence, which is two-thirds or in this case, six members. 

The junior member will collect and count the votes. The 

count is then checked by the president who shall announce the result 

of the ballot to the members. Based on my review of the members' 

questionnaires, I have determined that Colonel [REDACTED] is the 

senior commission member and will serve as the president officer 

during the deliberations and announce the decision as the president 

of the commission. Colonel [REDACTED] is the junior member of the 

commission. 

If you vote on all of the proposed sentences without 

arriving at the required concurrence of two-thirds or six, you may 

then repeat the process of discussion, proposal of sentences and 

voting. But once a proposal has been agreed to by the required 

concurrence, then that is your sentence. 

Members, you may reconsider your sentence at any time prior 

to it being announced in open session of the commission. If after 

you determine your sentence, any member suggests that you reconsider 

the sentence, please open the commission session through notice to 

the bailiff, and the president must announce that reconsideration has 

been proposed without reference to whether the proposed reballot 

concerns increasing or decreasing the sentence. In the event that we 



should have such a notice provided, I will give you specific 

instructions on the procedure for reconsideration. 

As an aid in putting the sentence in proper form, the court 

shall use the Sentence Worksheet which has been marked as Appellate 

Exhibit 26. 

Have both sides had an opportunity to review Appellate 

Exhibit 26? 

PROS: Yes, sir. 

DDC: Defense has, Your Honor. 

MJ: Any objections? 

PROS: No, sir. 

DDC: None from the defense. 

MJ: Bailiff, please now hand Appellate Exhibit 26 to Colonel 

[REDACTED]. 

[The bailiff did as directed.] 

MJ: Appropriate care should be exercised in using this 

worksheet and in selecting the sentence which properly reflects the 

sentence of the commission. If you have any questions concerning 

sentencing matters, you should request further instructions in open 

session in the presence of all parties to the trial. In this 

connection, you are again reminded that you may not consult any 

publication or writing not properly admitted or received during this 

trial. 



My instructions should not be interpreted as indicating an 

opinion as to the sentence which should be adjudged, for you 

gentlemen alone have the responsible for determining an appropriate 

sentence in this case. In arriving at your determination, you should 

select the sentence which will best serve the needs of the accused 

and the welfare of society. When the commission has determined a 

sentence, the inapplicable portions of the Sentence Worksheet should 

be lined through. When the commission returns, I will examine the 

Sentence Worksheet and then the president will then announce the 

sentence in open court. 

Do counsel have any objection to my instructions or request 

for any other instructions? 

PROS: No, Your Honor. 

DDC: No, sir. 

MJ: Does any member of the commission have any questions for me 

at this time? 

[Affirmative response from Colonel [REDACTED].] 

MJ: Colonel [REDACTED] ? 

MEMBER [COL [REDACTED]]: During part of the testimony today it 

was pointed out that the defendant either provided information to the 

US government while he was a detainee or cooperated with the US 

government to some extent and that we should use that as a mitigating 

factor as we deliberate the sentence. My question is -- how does -- 



because we don't know what that information is, so how can we use 

that as a mitigating factor -- or how should we? 

MJ: Okay. That information was provided to you during the 

course of the accused's unsworn statement which was provided to you 

in an authorized fashion through counsel. I've already read you the 

instruction about unsworn statements. Upon your request, sir, I will 

review that instruction with you again. 

MEMBER [COL [REDACTED]]: No, sir. 

MJ: I will also note then that following an unsworn statement, 

the government has an opportunity to present a case in rebuttal, if 

they wish, with regard to any statement of fact in the unsworn 

statement. That did not happen. 

Counsel in this case are each responsible for presenting 

the case on the side of their party. They have done so at this time. 

You have now received the evidence that you have to work with. What 

I will tell you is you must base your consideration of the sentence 

on the evidence that has been presented to you. 

Does that answer your question? 

MEMBER [COL [REDACTED]]: To the extent that defense counsel 

made the same statement in his arguments, it was not just in the 

unsworn statement, sir. That's what is kind of ---- 

MJ: Okay. With regard to that, I'll advise you that the 

arguments of counsel are not evidence in this case. They are made 



for the purpose of helping you understand the evidence that you have 

received and it is counsel's opportunity to draw your attention to 

the evidence that you've received in a fashion that they think is 

appropriate for you to consider. 

MEMBER [COL [REDACTED]]: That's perfect. That's all I need. 

Thank you. 

MJ: Does either side have any objection to that instruction or 

request for any other instruction? 

PROS: No, sir. 

DDC: Defense does not, sir. 

MJ: Any other questions for me at this time? 

[Negative response from the members.] 

MJ: Colonel [REDACTED], when you go into closed session 

deliberations, as I've indicated, you all must stay in there together 

d u r i n g  a l l  t h a t  t i m e .  If a t  any t i m e  d u r i n g  your  d e l i b e r a t i o n s ,  you 

desire to take a recess, we must first formally reconvene the 

commission in open court, and then recess so that you're all at 

recess together. Nobody can step out even to go to the head by 

themselves. You must all be together for all of the deliberations. 

We will also, upon your call, provide you with an evening meal and 

you can just tell me about that. 

Knowing this, would you like to take a brief recess before 

you begin deliberations, sir, or would you like to begin immediately? 



PRES: Brief recess before deliberation. 

MJ: Very well. We'll take a recess at this time. While we 

take this break here I'm going to remind you again. You've received 

all the evidence and you've received my instructions, but you should 

not begin discussion or consideration of the matter even in your own 

mind during this break. Let's just take a break, I'll bring you 

back, then we'll send you into deliberations. 

The members are excused. 

Bailiff: All rise. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

[The members departed the courtroom.] 

[The commission recessed at 1752 hours, 30 March 2007.1 

[END OF PAGE] 



MJ: Okay, we're going to take an in-place recess and stand by 

for them here. Everyone else that has to do whatever can do it after 

they've gone into their deliberations. We're in recess. 

[The session recessed at 1753 hours, 30 March 2007.1 

[The session was called to order at 1759 hours, 30 March 2007.1 

MJ: The commission is called to order. All parties present 

when court recessed are again present. 

Please recall all the members. 

[The bailiff did as directed.] 

Bailiff: All rise. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

[The members entered the courtroom.] 

[END OF PAGE] 



[The commission w a s  called t o  order a t  1800 h o u r s ,  30 March 2007.1 

MJ: Colonel [REDACTED], are the members ready to begin their 

deliberations? 

PRES: We are ready, Your Honor. 

MJ: Gentlemen, you can gather up your notes and retire to the 

deliberation room. 

[The members did as directed and departed the courtroom.] 

MJ: Court is closed for deliberations. 

[The commission closed a t  1801 h o u r s ,  30 March 2007.1 

[END OF PAGE] 



[The sess ion was c a l l e d  t o  order a t  2002 hours, 30 March 2007.1 

MJ: The commission will come to order. All parties present 

when the court closed are again present. The members are absent. 

I've been advised that the members have concluded their 

deliberations. Please recall all the members to the courtroom. 

[The bailiff did as directed.] 

Bailiff: All rise. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

[The members entered the courtroom.] 

[END OF PAGE] 



[The conunission opened a t  2003 hours,  30 March 2007.1 

MJ: Members, please be seated. 

[The members did as directed.] 

MJ: Everyone, please be seated. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

MJ: Colonel [REDACTED], have the members reached a sentence in 

this case? 

PRES: Yes, Your Honor. 

MJ: Is the sentence reflected on the sentence worksheet? 

PRES: Yes, Your Honor. 

MJ: Have you signed it at the bottom? 

PRES: Yes, Your Honor. 

MJ: Colonel [REDACTED], please fold the sentence worksheet and 

give it to the bailiff. 

Bailiff, please recover that and without looking at it, 

please give it to me so I may I examine it. 

[The bailiff retrieved AE 26 from the president and handed it to the 

military judge. I 

MJ: [Examines AE 26.1 Bailiff, I'm going to have you hand this 

back to the president. 

Colonel [REDACTED], I need for you to look at it again and 

I'd like you just to circle the parts that are applicable and to 

cross out all those parts that are not applicable. 



[The bailiff retrieved AE 26 frorn the military judge and handed it to 

the president. ] 

[The president marked AE 26.1 

MJ: Okay, have you accomplish that, sir? 

PRES: Yes, Your Honor. 

MJ: Bailiff, please recover that again. 

[The bailiff retrieved AE 26 from the president and handed it to the 

military judge. ] 

MJ: [Examines AE 26.1 I'm going to hand it back once more. 

There's two sections in there. One is number 1, and one is number 2. 

If you look at that again, you need to be operating under number 1 or 

under number 2 and not under both, because that would be 

inconsistent. 

[The bailiff retrieved AE 26 from the military judge and handed it to 

the president. ] 

[The president marked AE 26 again.] 

MJ: Okay, bailiff, if you could please recover that. 

[The bailiff retrieved AE 26 from the president and handed it to the 

military judge. ] . 

MJ: [Examines AE 26.1 Okay. I have examined the sentence 

worksheet and it appears to be in the proper format. 

If you could please return it to the president of the 

commission. 



[The bailiff retrieved AE 26 from the military judge and handed it to 

the president. I 

MJ: Accused and counsel, please rise. 

[The accused and his detailed defense counsel did as directed.] 

MJ: Colonel [REDACTED], if you colllil please announce t h ~  

sentence of the commission. 

PRES: David Matthew Hicks, this commission sentences you: 

To be confined f o r  7 years .  

MJ: You may be seated. 

[The accused and his detailed defense counsel did as directed.] 

MJ: Bailiff, please retrieve the sentence worksheet from the 

president of the commission. 

[The bailiff did as directed and handed AE 26 to the court reporter.] 

MJ: Members of the commission, you have now completed your 

duties and you are discharged with my thanks. Please leave -- well I 

don't think you have any of the original exhibits with you, if you 

did, you would need to leave those behind. You may take your own 

personal notes with you which includes everything in your folders, or 

you may leave those behind and they will be destroyed for you by the 

court reporter. 

In an effort to assist you in determining what you may 

discuss about this case now that it is over, the following guidance 

is provided. When you took your oath as members, you swore not to 



disclose nor discover the vote or opinion of any particular member of 

this commission unless required to do so in due course of law. This 

means that you may not tell anyone about the way you or anyone else 

on the commission voted or what opinion you or they had, unless I or 

another judge require you to do so in open session. 

You are each entitled to this privacy. Other than that, 

you are free to talk to anyone about the case, including me, the 

attorneys, or anyone else. You may also decline to participate in 

such discussion, if that is your choice. Be mindful that there may 

be certain service-specific or Department of Defense rules or 

regulations which might also govern your contacts with the media. 

Any advice may be obtained from a Public Affairs official. 

Members, your deliberations are carried out in the secrecy 

of the deliberation room to permit the utmost freedom of debate and 

so that each one of you can express your views without fear of being 

subjected to public scorn or criticism by the accused, the convening 

authority, or anyone else. In deciding whether to answer questions 

about this case, and if so, what to disclose, you should have in mind 

your own interests and the interests of the other members of the 

commission. 

Does any member have any questions at this time? 

Negative response from the members. 



MJ: Members of the commission, I want to thank you again for 

your participation and attentiveness during this case. You may now 

depart the courtroom and resume your normal duties. 

Bailiff: All rise. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed and the members 

departed the courtroom.] 

MJ: Everyone, please be seated. 

[All persons in the courtroom did as directed.] 

MJ: Mr. Hicks, we are now going to discuss the operation of 

your pretrial agreement on the sentence of the commission. We 

discussed the portion of the appendix before, and now let me review 

the pertinent part here. 

The first part of the sentence limitation was that the 

convening authority agreed that the maximum that could be adjudged 

and approved was 7 years. That was the first part of the sentence 

limitation. The convening authority also agreed in paragraph la of 

the pretrial agreement to suspend any portion of a sentence adjudged 

to confinement in excess of 9 months. That means here the commission 

adjudged a sentence of 7 years which means anything in excess of 9 

months is suspended pursuant to the terms of this agreement which 

would be 3 months from the first year and then the 6 years after 

that. So 6 years and 3 months of the 7 years adjudged are suspended 

pursuant to the terms of this agreement. 



Do you understand that? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: And was that also your understanding of how this would 

brork? 

ACC: Yes, it was. 

MJ: Now with regard to section id, the government of the United 

States is bound to transfer custody and control of you to the 

government of Australia by not later than 60 days from the date upon 

which the sentence is announced. That just happened today, and so 60 

days from today would be the 29th of May, 2007. 

Do you understand that? 

ACC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: And is that also your understanding of how that term would 

work? 

ACC: Yes, it was. 

MJ: Do counsel concur with my interpretation of the pretrial 

agreement with regard to those terms, because I think all the rest of 

them were addressed before? 

PROS: Yes, sir. 

DDC: Defense does, Your Honor. 

MJ: Now Mr. Hicks, as we discussed while going over the 

pretrial agreement earlier, one of the conditions of the agreement 

was that you waive your appellate rights as provided for -- and I 



mean the waiver of appellate rights provided for in Rule for Military 

Commission 1110. 

Major Mori, do you have a waiver of appellate rights in 

accordance with Rule for Military Commission 1110 before you? 

DDC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Is it signed? 

DDC: Yes, sir. 

MJ: Bailiff, please recover that from the defense counsel. 

Please show it to the government counsel. 

[The bailiff did as directed.] 

MJ: Trial counsel, does this satisfy the accused's requirements 

with regard to the R.M.C. 1110 provision? 

PROS: Yes, sir. 

MJ: If I could have that marked as the appellate exhibit next - 

- Appellate Exhibit 33, I believe. 

[The bailiff handed the document to the court reporter who had it 

marked. ] 

MJ: Are there other matters to take up before we adjourn? 

PROS: No, Your Honor. 

DDC: None from defense, Your Honor. 

MJ: Very well. This military commission is adjourned. 

[The commission adjourned at 2014 hours, 30 March 2007.1 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA I 
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DAVID MATTHEW HICKS 
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Stipulation of Fact 

29 March 2007 

I .  This stipulation of fact is entered into by the Prosecution and Defense knowingly and 
voluntarily kn the case of ilniled States v. David Hicks (lztreinafter "the accused") It  is hereby 
stipulated arid agreed, by and between the Prosecution anti Defense, with the express consent of 
the accused, that the following facts are true. 

2. The accused acknowledges and agrees that he is an alien unlawful enemy combatant, as 
defined by The Military Commissions Act of 2006 (MCA), Title 10, United States Code, Section 
948a(1) and (3). The accused is and has been at all times relevant to these proceedings, a person 
subject to trial by military commission, pursuant to Secticn 948c of the MCA. 

3. On 30 September 2004. the Combatant Status Review Tribunal (CSRT) made the 
determination that the accused is an unlawful enemy com'patant as a member of, or affiliated 
with, a1 Qatsda; as defined by Rule for Military Commission (RMC) 202. 

4, The accased was born on August 7, 1975 in Adelaide, Australia. 

5. Jn or about the middle of May 1999, the accused traveled to Tirana, Albania from Japan and 
joined the Kosovo Liberation Arnly (KLA), a paramilitary organization fighting on behalf of 
Albanians. The accused completed a four-week basic military training course at a KLA camp 
before returning to Australia on or about 27 June 1999. 

6. After returning to Australia, the accused converted to Islam in September of 1999. In or 
about November 1999, he traveled to Pakistan where, in the middle of 2000, he joined a terrorist 
organization known as Lashkar-e Tayyiba (LET), meaning "Army of the Righteous" or "Anny of 
the Pure;" designated a Foreign Terrorist Organization (F'TO), on 26 December 2001, pursuant to 
Section 215) of the Immigration and Nationality Act. 

7. The LET is the armed wing of Markaz-ud-Daawa-wal-Irshad (MDI), (aWa Markaz Jamat a1 
Dawa), a group formed by Hafiz Mohammed Saeed and others. 

8 .  ?'he LET'S known goals include violent attacks against property and nationals (both mil~tary 
and civilian) of India and other countries in order to occupy Indian-controlled Kashmir and 
violent opposition of Hindus, Jews, Americans, and other wcsterners. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERlCA V. DA'VID MATTHEW IIICKS 
Stipulation of Fact 

9. Starting around 1990, LET established training camps and guest houses, schools, and other 
operations primarily in Paltistan and rlfghmistan for the purpose of training and supporting 
violent attacks against property and nationals (both military and civilian) of India and other 
comtries. 

10. Since 1990, members and associates of LET have conducted numerous attacks on military 
and civilian personnel and property in Indian-controlled Kashmir aznd in India, itself. 

J I .  On or aoout April 23, 2000, in a bulletin posted on the internet, LET claimed that i t  had 
recently killed Indian soldiers and destroyed an Indian government building, both located in 
Intlian-contl-olled Kashmir. 

12. After joining LET, the accused trained for two month:; at LET'S Mosqua Aqsa camp in 
Pakistan. His training included weapons familiarization 2nd firing, map reading, land 
navigation, and troop movement. 

13. Follotving the trainlng at Mosqua Aqsa, the accused, along with LET associates, traveled to a 
border region between Pakistani-controlled Kashmir and [ndian-controlled Kashmir where he 
engaged in hostile action against Indian forces by firing a machine gun at an Indian Army 
bunker. 

14. In or about January 2001, the accused, with assistance from LET, traveled to Afghanistan 
and attended a1 Qaeda training camps. 

15, A1 Qaetla ("The Base") was founded by Usama bin Laden and others in or about 1989 for the 
purpose of opposing certain governments and officials with force and violence. 

16, Usama bin Laden is recognized as the emir (prince or !eader) of a1 Qaeda 

17. A purpose or goal of a! Qaeda, as stated by Usama bin Laden and other a1 Qaeda leaders, is 
to support jriolent attacks against property and nationals (both military and civilian) of the lJnited 
States and other countries for the purpose of, inter alia, f~rcing the United States to withdraw its 
forces from the Arabian Peninsula and to oppose U.S. support of Israel. 

18. Al Qaeda operations and activities have historically been planned and executed with the 
involvement of a shura (consultation) council composed of committees, including: political 
co:nrnittee; military committee; security committee; finance committee; media comrnlttee; and 
religiouslle:,:al committee. 

19. Bettilee;? 1989 and 200 1 ,  a1 Qaeda established training camps, guest houses, and business 
operations i n  Afghanistan, Pakistan, and other countries car the purpose of training and 
supporting violent attacks against property and nationals (both military and civilian) of the 
United States and other countries. 



UNITED STATES OF AMERlCA V. DAVID MATTHEW HICKS 
Stipulation of Fact 

20. In August 1996, Usama bin Laden issued a public "Dcclurution $Jihad Againsl the 
.-1rnericans,'' in which he called for the murder of U.S. military personnel senring on the Arabian 
peninsula. 

21. In Febrc~ary 1998, TJsarna bin Laden, Ayman a1 Zawahiri, and others, under the banner of 
"Intematio~-ial Islamic Front for Fighting Jews and Crusaders,'' issued a fuhvu (purported 
religious ruling) requiring all Muslims able to do so to kill Americans - whether civilian or 
military - anywhere they can be found and to "plunder their money." 

22. On or about May 29, 1998, Usama bin Laden issued e, statement entitled "'The Nuclear Bomb 
of Islam," under the banner of the "International Islamic 1;ront for Fighting Jews and Crusaders," 
in which he stated that "it is the duty of the Muslims to pr,epare as much force as possible to 
terrorize the enemies of God." 

23. In or about 200 1 ,  a1 Qaeda's media committee, which created the Media Foundation As 
Sahab ("The Clouds"), orchestrated and distributed multi-media propaganda detailing a1 Qaeda's 
training efforts and its reasons for declaring war against the Uniteti States. 

24. Since 1989, members and associates of a1 Qaeda, known and unknown, have carricd out 
numerous terrorist attacks, including, but not limited to: t?e attacks against the American 
Embassies in Kenya and Tanzania in August 1998; the atlack against the USS COLE in October 
2000; and the attacks on the United States on September 1 1,2001. 

25. On or about October 8, 1999, the United States designated a1 Qaeda ("a1 Qa'ida") a Foreign 
Terrorist Organization pursuant to Section 219 of the Imn~igration and Nationality Act, and on or 
about August 21, 1998, the United States designated a1 Qaeda a "specially designated terrorist" 
(S DT), pursuant to the International Emergency Economic Powers Act. 

26 In or about January 2001, the accused traveled to Afghanistan, with the assistance of 
Lashkar-e ':'ayyiba (LET), to include LET'S recommendation, funding, and transportation, in 
ortler to attend a1 Qaeda terrorist training camps. 

27. Upon entering Afghanistan, the accused traveled to Kandahar where he stayed at an a1 Qaeda 
guest house and met associates or members of aI Qaeda. While attending a1 Qaeda's training 
courses, the accused would use the kunyu, or alias, "Rbu  mus slim Australia," "Abu Muslim 
Austraili," "Abu Muslim Philippine," or "Muhammad Davvood;" and later was referred to as 
"David Michael Hicks." 

28. The accused then traveled to and trained at a\ Qaeda's a1 Farouq camp located outside 
Kzmlndahar: Afghanistan. In a1 Qaeda's eight-week basic training course, the accused trained in 
weapons familiarization and firing, land mines, tactics, topography, small unit fire, maneuver 
tactics, field movements. and other areas. 

29. In or about April 200 1? the accused returned to a1 Farouq and trained in a1 Qaeda's guerilla 
warfare ancl mountain tactics training course. This seven-week course included: marksmanship; 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA V. DAVID MATTHEW 1-TICKS 
Stipulation of Fact 

small team tactics; ambush; camouflage; rendezvous tech~iques; and techniques to pass 
intelligence and supplies to al Qaeda operatives. 

30. While the accused trained at a1 Farouq, Usama bin Laden visited the camp on several 
occasions. Durirrg such visits, any weapons the trainees had were removed from them and they 
n7ere seated as a group to hear bin Laden speak in Arabic. During one visit, the accused asked 
bin Laden why there were no training materials provided in the English language. 

3 1 .  After the accused completed his first two ai Qaeda training courses, Muhammad Atef (dUa  
Abu Hafs al Masri), then the military commander of'al Qaeda, summoned and individually 
interviewed certain attendees. The accused was interviewed about: his background; knowledge 
of Usarna bin Laden; a1 Qaeda; his ability to travel arouncl the world, to include Israel. After this 
interview with bfuhamrned Atef, the accused attended a1 Qaeda's urban tactics training course at 
Tarnak Farm. 

32. In or about June 200 1, the accused traveled to Tarnak Farm and participated in the training in 
a mock city located inside the camp, where trainees were taught how to fight in an urban 
environmer t .  This city tactics training included: marltsmanship; use of assault and sniper rifles; 
rappelling; kidnapping techniques; and assassination methods. 

33. In or about August 2001, the accused participated in a four-week a1 Qaeda course on 
information collection and surveillance at an apartment in Kabul, Afghanistan. This surveillance 
training included weeks o f  covert photography; use of dead drops; use of disguises; drawing 
diegrams dcpictlng windows and doors; documenting persons coming and golng to a id  from 
eel-tain structures; and, submitting reports to the a1 Qaeda instructor. who c~ted the a1 Qaeda 
bombing of the USS Cole as a positive example of the uses for their training. The course also 
included pruticaf applicstion where the accused and other student operatives conducted 
sulveillanca of various locations in Kabul, including the f13rmer American and British Embassy 
bu~ldings. During this training, the accused personally conducted intelligence on the former 
Arlerican Embassy building. 

34 After the sunleillance course, the accused returned to Kandahar, where he received 
instruction from members of a1 Qaeda on the meaning ofjihad. The accused also received 
instruction Fronl other a1 Qaeda members or associates on their interpretation of Islam, the 
meaning anti obl~gations ofjihad, and related topics, at other a1 Qaeda training camps in 
Afghanistan. 

35 On or al:)out September 9,2001, the accused traveled to Pakistcm to visit a Pakistani friend 
While at this friend's house, the accused watched televisicn footage ofthe September 11,2001 
attacks on t?e United States, and the fiiend has said he interpreted the accused's gestures as 
approval of the attacks. The accused had no specific knowledge of the attacks in advance. 

36, On or about September 12,2001, the accused returned to Afghanistan to join with a1 Qaeda. 
The accuseti had heard reports that the attacks were cond~acted by a1 Qaeda and that America was 
bisming Us~una bin Laden. 
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37. On or about the first of October, Saif a1 Adel--then a1 Qaeda's deputy military commander 
and head of the security committee for a1 Qaeda's shura council, who was organizing a1 Qaeda 
forces at locations where it was expected there would be fighting against the United States, 
Northern Alliance, or other Coalition forces--informed Mr. Hicks that he could go to three 
different 1oc;sttions to position himself with combat forces (city, mountain, or airport). Mr. Hicks 
chose to join a group of a1 Qaeda and Taliban fighters near the Kandahar Airport. 

38. The accused traveled to the Kandahar Airport and was issued an Avtomat Kalashnikova 1947 
(AK-47) automatic rifle. On his own, however, the accused a m d  himself with six (6) 
m~rnunibion magazines, approximately 300 rounds of ammunition, and three (3) grenades to use 
in fighting Ihe United States, Northern Alliance, and other. Coalition forces. 

39. On or ahout October 7, 2001, when the Coalition Forces initiated a bombing campaign at the 
start of Operation Enduring Freedom, the accused had been at the Kandahar airport for about two 
weeks and entrenched in the area where the initial military strikes occurred. ,At this slte, other a1 
Qaeda forces were in battle positions based a couple of hundred meters in all directions, and 
were under the direction of another a1 Qaeda leader. 

40. On or a!:)out October 10,2001, after two nights of bombing, the accused was reassigned and 
joined an armed group outside the airport where he guarded a Taliban tank. For about the next 
week the accused guarded the Taliban tank, and every day received food, drink, and updates on 
what was happening from the fat a1 Qaeda leader in charge who was on a bicycle. 

41. The accused heard radio reports that fighting was heavy at Mamr-e Sharif, that Kabul would 
be the next l.arget, and that western countries, including tb,e United States, had joined with the 
Northern Alliance. 

42. The accused implemented the tactics that he had learned with a1 Qaeda and attempted to train 
some of the others positioned with him at Kandahar. After apparent resistance to his training, 
and no enerny in sight at the time in Kandahar, the accused decided to look for another 
opportunity to fight in Kabul. 

43. On or airlout October 17, 2001, the accused told the fa]. a1 Qaeda leader of his plans, and then 
traveled to Kabul. The accused also took his weapon and all his ammunition. 

44. The accused arrived in Kabul and met a friend from LET, who told the accused he was 
headed to the front lines in Konduz. The accused asked to travel with 111s LEI' friend. 

45. On or aoout November 9,2001, the accused and his LET friend anived at Konduz, the day 
before Mamr-e Sharif was captured by the Northern Alliance and U.S. Special Forces. 
Sometime after the accused arrived at Konduz, he went tc the frontline outside thc city for two 
hours where he joined a group of a1 Qaeda, Taliban, or other associated fighters, engaged in 
combat against Coalition forces. The accused spent two hours on the frontline before it 
collapsed a:ld was forced to flee. During the retreat, the accused saw bullets flying and Northern 
ill liance tanks coming over the trenches. 
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46. The accused spent two to three days walking back to Ksnduz while being chased and fired 
upon by the Northern Alliance. 

47. The accused made it safely back to the city of Konduz, where he approached some of the 
Arab fighters and asked about their plans. The .Arabs fighters said they were going to stay in 
K o ~ ~ d u z  in order to fight to the death. The accused, instead, decided to use his Australian 
passport to Jlee to Pakistan. 

48. The accused then moved within Konduz to a maduffuh, an Arab safe house. The accused 
wrote a note for his LET associates that said not to come look for him because he was okay, and 
then ran away from the safe house. At this time the accused still had his weapon, and went to 
find a shopkeeper that he had met a few days earlier in the: city market area. The shopkeeper 
took the accused to his home where he stayed for about three weeks. Later, the shopkeeper gave 
the accused some clothes and helped the accused sell his weapon so he could pay for a taxi to 
Palcistan. 

49 In or about December 2001, one week after the control of Konduz changed from the Taliban 
to the Northern Alliance, the accused took a taxi and iled towards Pakistan. However, the 
accused was captured without any weapons by the Northern Alliance in Baghlan, Afghanistan. 

50. The accused acknow!edges that he has never been the victim of any illegal treatment at the 
harids of any personnel while in the custody or control of :he United States. This 
acknowledgement includes the entire period after the accused was captured and transferred to 
U.5. custody in Afghanistan on or about 15 December 2001. The acknowledgment also includes 
the entire period for which the accused was detained by the United States at Guantanarno Bay, 
Cuba. The term "illegal treatment" means any treatment in violation or contravention of 
Common Ai-ticle 111 of the Geneva Conventions, the Convention Against Torture, the Detainee 
Treatrneqt Act, w d  Title 18 of the U.S. Code. 

DAVID M. HICKS 
Accused 

DATE 
Major, U.S. Marine Corps 
Detailed Military Defense Counsel 

07 "32Y 
DATE 

Lir:utenant Colonel, U.S. Marine Corps 
Prosecutor 
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There were no Convening Orders published in 2006 

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE 
OFFICE OF MILITARY COMMISSIONS 

OFFICE OF THE CONVENING AUTHORITY 
1600 DEFENSE PENTAGON 

WASHINGTON, DC 2030 1-1 600 

MILITARY COMMISSION CONVENING ORDER 
NUMBER 07-01 1 March 2007 

Pursuant to the authority vested in the Secretary of Defense in accordance with the 
Military Commissions Act of 2006, 10 U.S.C. 6 948h, and my appointment as Convening 
Authority for Military Comn~issions on February 6, 2007, a military comnlission is 
hereby convened. It may proceed at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, unless otherwise directed, 
to try such persons as may be properly brought before it. The military commission is 
convened with the following members: 

MEMBERS 

RANK NAME -- 
COL 
Col. 
Col. 
Capt. 
COL 
Capt. 
Capt. 
Col. 
Lt.Co1. 
MAJ 

SVC ASSIGNMENT - 
USA 
USAF 
USAF 
USN 
USA 
USN 
USN 
USMC 
US AF 
USA 

DISTRIBUTION : 
Individual (1) 
Record of Trial (1) 
Reference Set (1) 

Susan J .  (hawford 
Convening Authority 

for Military Commissions 



MC FORM 458 JAN 2007 

CHARGE SHEET 
I. PERSONAL DATA 

1. NAME OF ACCUSED: 
DAVID MATTHEW HICKS 
2. ALIASES OF ACCUSED: 
alkla "David Michael Hicks," alkla "Abu Muslim Australia," alkla "Abu Muslim Austraili," alkla "Abu Muslim 
Philippine," alkla "Muhammad Dawood" 

3. ISN NUMBER OF ACCUSED (LAST FOUR): 

0002 

II. CHARGES AND SPECIFICATIONS 

4. CHARGE: VIOLATION OF SECTION AND TITLE OF CRIME IN PART 1V OF M.M.C. 

SPECIFICATION: 

See Attached Charges and Specifications. 

Ill. SWEARING OF CHARGES 

~ l ~ ~ k ~  I through IV of this MC Form 458, including the continuati , for Block 11, are duplicate originals, replacing misplaced originfala. Gk, l r  

5a. NAME OF ACCUSER (LAST, FIRST, MI) 
Tubbs, II, Marvin, W. 

fi 
5d. SIGNATURE OF ACCU ER 

fl~hh&-' 
5e. DATE (YWYMMDD) 
20070202 

AFFIDAVIT: Before me. the undersigned, authorized by law to administer oath in cases of this character, personally appeared the above named 
accuser the 2nd day of February . 2007 , and signed the foregoing charges and specifications under oath that helshe is a person 
subject to the Uniform Code of Military Justice and that helshe has personal knowledge of or has investigated the matters set forth therein and 
that the same are true to the best of hislher knowledge and belief. 

Kevin M. Chenail Office of the Chief Prosecutor, OMC 
Typed Name of Officer Organization of Officer 

0-5 Commissioned Officer, U.S. Marine Corps 
Grade Official Capacity to Administer Oath 

% c& (See R. M.C. 307(b) must be commissioned officer) 

Signature 

L 

5b. GRADE 

0 -4  
5c. ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSER 

Office of the Chief Prosecutor, OMC 

AE 2(Hicks)
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MC FORM 458 JAN 2007 

IV. NOTICE TO THE ACCUSED 
v 

6. On February 2 , 2007 the accused was notified of the charges against himlher (See R.M.C. 308). 

Kevin M. Chenail, LtCol, U.S. Marine Corps Office of the Chief Prosecutor, OMC 
Typed Name and Grade of Person Who Caused Organization of the Person Who Caused 

Accused to Be Notified of Charges Accused to Be Notified of Charges 

9- 4 /- 
0- Signature 

V. RECEIPT OF CHARGES BY CONVENING AUTHORITY 

7. The sworn charges were received at 1  0  0  0  hours, On 6 Feb - ' 0  7  ,a t  the Off ice of the 
Convening Authority for Military Commissions, Arlington, VA . 

Location 

For the Convening Authority: Jennifer D . Young 
Typed Name of Officer 

CW3, USA 
Grade 

D /  Signature 

VI. REFERRAL 
Ba. DESIGNATION OF CONVENING AUTHORITY 

Convening Authority 
n i n t o d  6 v ~ h  3nn7 

Referred for trial to the (non)capital military commission convened by military commission convening order 0  7 - 0 1  dated 
1 March 7007 

subject to the following instructions': See conti nuat ion Sheet 

<& 
Command, Order, or Direction 

dX 

Hnn - S l l s a n  .T- r m f n r d  Authoritv 
Typed Name and Grade of Officer Official Capacily of Officer Signing 

c4&mdk/.& 1 0  U.S.C. Sec. 948h 
Signat 

VII. SERVICE OF CHARGES 

9. On I (caused to be) Sewed a copy these charges on the above named accused. 

Typed Name of Trial Counsel Grade of Trial Counsel 

Signature of Trial Counsel 

FOOTNOTES 
'see R.M.C. 601 concerning instructions. If none, so state. 

Cr 

Bb. PLACE 

Arlington, VA 
8c. DATE (YYYYMMDD) 

20070301 

AE 2(Hicks)
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CONTINUATION SHEET - MC FORM 458 JAN 2007, Block VI Referral 

In the case of UNITED STATES OF AMERICA v. DAVID MATTHEW HICKS 
a/k/a "David Michael Hicks" 
a/k/a, "Abu Muslim Australia" 
a/k/a "Abu Muslim Austraili" 
alWa "Abu Muslim Philippine" 
a/k/a "Muhammad Dawood" 

The following charge and specifications are referred to trial by military commission: 

Specifications 1 and 2 of Charge I, as amended, and Charge I. 

Other matters incorporated by reference in Block 4 of MC Form 458 pertaining to the 
accused, including those sections entitled "INTRODUCTION, "JURISDICTION, and 
"BACKGROLND" are in the nature of a bill of particulars and are not referred to trial. 

The following charge and specification are dismissed and are not referred to trial: 

The Specification of Charge I1 and Charge 11. 

This case is referred non-capital. 

Date J - / - 0 7  - 

Convening ~ u t h o r i t ~  w 
for Military Commissions 

AE 2(Hicks)
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

DAVID MATTHEW HICKS 
ak/a "David Michael Hicks" 
a/k/a/ "Abu Muslim Australia" 
a/Wa "Abu Muslim Austraili" 

a/k/a "Abu Muslim Philippine" 
a/k/a "Muhammad Dawood" 

CHARGES: 

Providing Material Support for Terrorism; 
and, 

Attempted Murder in Violation of the Law of War 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The accused, David Matthew Hicks (alkla "David Michael Hicks," a/k/a "Abu Muslim 
Australia," aWa "Abu Muslim Austraili," &a "Abu Muslim Philippine," dkla "Muhammad 
Dawood;" hereinafter "Hicks"), is a person subject to trial by military commission for 
violations of the law of war and other offenses triable by military commission, as an alien 
unlawful enemy combatant. At all times material to the charges: 

JURISDICTION 

2. Jurisdiction for this military commission is based on Title 10 U.S.C. Sec. 948d, the Military 
Commissions Act of 2006, hereinafter "MCA;" its implementation by the Manual for 
Military Commissions (MMC), Chapter 11, Rules for Military Commissions (RMC) 202 and 
203; and, the final determination of September 30,2004 by the Combatant Status Review 
Tribunal (CSRT) that Hicks is an unlawful enemy combatant as a member of, or affiliated 
with, al Qaeda. 

3. The charged conduct of the accused is triable by military commission. 

BACKGROUND 

4. Hicks was born on August 7, 1975 in Adelaide, Australia. 

5. In or about May 1999, Hicks traveled to Tirana, Albania and joined the Kosovo Liberation 
Army (KLA), a paramilitary organization fighting on behalf of Albanian Muslims. Hicks 
completed basic military training at a KLA camp and engaged in hostile action before 
returning to Australia. 

6. While in Australia, Hicks converted to Islam. In or about November 1999, he traveled to 
Pakistan where, in early 2000, he joined a terrorist organization known as Lashkar-e Tayyiba 
(LET), meaning "Army of the Righteous" or "Army of the Pure." 
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a. The LET is the armed wing of Markaz-ud-Daawa-wal-Irshad (MDI), (a/k/a Markaz Jamat 
a1 Dawa), a group formed by Hafiz Mohammed Saeed and others. 

b. The LET's known goals include violent attacks against property and nationals (both 
military and civilian) of India and other countries in order to occupy Indian-controlled 
Kashmir and violent opposition of Hindus, Jews, Americans, and other Westerners. 

c. Starting around 1990, LET established training camps and guest houses, schools, and 
other operations primarily in Pakistan and Afghanistan for the purpose of training and 
supporting violent attacks against property and nationals (both military and civilian) of 
India and other countries. 

d. Since 1990, members and associates of LET have conducted numerous attacks on 
military and civilian personnel and property in Indian-controlled Kashmir and India, 
itself. 

e. In 1998, Saeed called for holy war against the United States after LET members were 
killed by United States missile attacks against terrorist training facilities in Afghanistan. 

f. On or about April 23,2000, in a bulletin posted on the internet, LET claimed that it had 
recently killed Indian soldiers and destroyed an Indian government building, both located 
in Indian-controlled Kashmir. 

g. On or about December 26,2001, the United States designated LET a Foreign Terrorist 
Organization pursuant to Section 2 19 of the Immigration and Nationality Act. 

7. ARer joining LET, Hicks trained for two months at LET's Mosqua Aqsa camp in Pakistan. 
His training included weapons familiarization and firing, map reading and land navigation, 
and troop movement. 

8. Following training at Mosqua Aqsa, Hicks, along with LET associates, traveled to a border 
region between Pakistani-controlled Kashmir and Indian-controlled Kashmir, where he 
engaged in hostile action against Indian forces. 

9. In or about January 2001, Hicks, with assistance from LET, traveled to Afghanistan and 
attended a1 Qaeda training camps. 

GENERAL ALLEGATlONS 

10. A1 Qaeda ("The Base") was founded by Usama bin Laden and others in or about 1989 for the 
purpose of opposing certain governments and officials with force and violence. 

11. Usama bin Laden is recognized as the emir (prince or leader) of a1 Qaeda. 

12. A purpose or goal of a1 Qaeda, as stated by Usama bin Laden and other a1 Qaeda leaders, is 
to support violent attacks against property and nationals (both military and civilian) of the 
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United States and other countries for the purpose of, inter alia, forcing the United States to 
withdraw its forces fiom the Arabian Peninsula and to oppose U.S. support of Israel. 

13. A1 Qaeda operations and activities have historically been planned and executed with the 
involvement of a shura (consultation) council composed of committees, including: political 
committee; military committee; security committee; finance committee; media committee; 
and religious/legal committee. 

14. Between 1989 and 2001, a1 Qaeda established training camps, guest houses, and business 
operations in Afghanistan, Pakistan, and other countries for the purpose of training and 
supporting violent attacks against property and nationals (both military and civilian) of the 
United States and other countries. 

1 5. In August 1996, Usama bin Laden issued a public "Declaration of Jihad Against the 
Americans," in which he called for the murder of U.S. military personnel serving on the 
Arabian peninsula. 

16. In February 1998, Usama bin Laden, Ayman a1 Zawahiri, and others, under the banner of 
"International Islamic Front for Fighting Jews and Crusaders," issued a jatwa (purported 
religious ruling) requiring all Muslims able to do so to kill Americans - whether civilian or 
military - anywhere they can be found and to "plunder their money." 

17. On or about May 29, 1998, Usama bin Laden issued a statement entitled "The Nuclear Bomb 
of Islam," under the banner of the "lntemational Islamic Front for Fighting Jews and 
Crusaders," in which he stated that "it is the duty of the Muslims to prepare as much force as 
possible to terrorize the enemies of God." 

18. In or about 2001, a1 Qaeda's media committee which created As Sahab ("The Clouds") Media 
Foundation which has orchestrated and distributed multi-media propaganda detailing a1 
Qaeda's training efforts and its reasons for its declared war against the United States, 

19. Since 1989 members and associates of a1 Qaeda, known and unknown, have carried out 
numerous terrorist attacks, including, but not limited to: the attacks against the American 
Embassies in Kenya and Tanzania in August 1998; the attack against the USS COLE in 
October 2000; and the attacks on the United States on September 1 1, 2001. 

20. Following a1 Qaeda's attacks on September 1 1,2001, and in furtherance of its goals, 
members and associates of a1 Qaeda have violently opposed and attacked the United States or 
its Coalition forces, United States Government and civilian employees, and citizens of 
various countries in locations throughout the world, including, but not limited to 
Afghanistan. 

21. On or about October 8, 1999, the United States designated a1 Qaeda ("a1 Qa'ida") a Foreign 
Terrorist Organization pursuant to Section 2 19 of the Immigration and Nationality Act, and 
on or about August 21, 1998, the United States designated a1 Qaeda a "specially designated 
terrorist" (SDT), pursuant to the International Emergency Economic Powers Act. 
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CHARGE I: VIOLATION OF SECTION AND TITLE OF CRIME IN . . .  
SECTION 950v(25) PROVIDING MATERIAL SUPPORT FOR TERRORlSM 3*/- 6' 

22. SPECIFICATION 1 : In that the accused, David Matthew Hicks (a/k/a "David Michael 
Hicks," alkla "Abu Muslim Australia," akla "Abu Muslim Austraili," a/k/a "Abu Muslim 
Philippine," a/k/a "Muhammad Dawood;" hereinafter "Hicks"), a person subject to trial by 
military commission as an alien unlawful enemy combatant, did, in or around Afghanistan, 
from in or about December 2000 through in or about December 200 1, intentionally provide 
material support or resources to an international terrorist organization engaged in hostilities 
against the United States, namely a1 Qaeda, which the accused knew to be such an 
organization that engaged, or engages, in terrorism, and, that the conduct of the accused took 
place in the context of and was associated with an armed conflict, namely a1 Qaeda or its 
associated forces against the United States or its Coalition partners, 

23. That Paragraphs (1 0) through (2 1) of the General Allegations are realleged and incorporated 
by reference for Specification 1 of Charge I. 

24. That the material support or resources provided by the accused, included, but were not 
limited to, the following: 

a. That in or about January 2001, Hicks traveled to Afghanistan, with the assistance of 
Lashkar-e Tayyiba (LET), to include LET'S recommendation, funding, and transportation, 
in order to attend a1 Qaeda terrorist training camps. 

b, That upon entering Afghanistan, Hicks traveled to Kandahar where he stayed at an a1 
Qaeda guest house and met Richard Reid ("Abdul Jabal"), Feroz Abbasi ("Abu Abbas al- 
Britani"), and other associates or members of a1 Qaeda. While attending a1 Qaeda's 
training, Hicks would use the kunya, or alias, "Abu Muslim Austraili," among others. 

c. That Hicks then traveled to and trained at a1 Qaeda's a1 Farouq camp located outside 
Kandahar, Afghanistan. In a1 Qaeda's eight-week basic training course, Hicks trained in 
weapons familiarization and firing, land mines, tactics, topography, field movements, 
basic explosives, and other areas. 

d. That in or about April 2001, Hicks returned to a1 Farouq and trained in a1 Qaeda's 
guerilla warfare and mountain tactics training course. This seven-week course included: 
marksmanship; small team tactics; ambush; camouflage; rendezvous techniques; and 
techniques to pass intelligence to a1 Qaeda operatives. 

e. That while Hicks was training at a1 Farouq, Usama bin Laden visited the camp on several 
occasions. During one visit, Hicks expressed to bin Laden his concern over the lack of 
english a1 Qaeda training material. 

f. That after Hicks completed his first two a1 Qaeda training courses, Muhammad Atef 
(&/a Abu Hafs a1 Masri), then the military commander of a1 Qaeda, summoned and 
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individually interviewed certain attendees, Hicks was interviewed about: his 
background; knowledge of Usama bin Laden; a1 Qaeda; his ability to travel around the 
world, to include Israel; and his willingness to go on a martyr mission. After this 
interview, Muhammed Atef recommended Hicks for attendance at a1 Qaeda's urban 
tactics training course at Tarnak Farm. 

g. That in or about June 2001, Hicks traveled to Tarnak Farm and participated in this 
course. A mock city was located inside the camp, where trainees were taught how to 
fight in an urban environment. This city tactics training included: marksmanship; use of 
assault and sniper rifles; rappelling; kidnapping techniques; and assassination methods. 

h. That in or about August 2001, Hicks participated in an advanced a1 Qaeda course on 
information collection and surveillance at an apartment in Kabul, Afghanistan. This 
course included practical application where Hicks and other student operatives conducted 
surveillance of various targets in Kabul, including the American and British Embassies. 
This surveillance training included weeks of: covert photography; use of dead drops; use 
of disguises; drawing diagrams depicting embassy windows and doors; documenting 
persons coming and going to the embassy; and, submitting reports to the a1 Qaeda 
instructor who cited the a1 Qaeda bombing of the USS Cole as a positive example of the 
uses for their training. During this training, Hicks personally collected intelligence on the 
American Embassy. 

i. That during the surveillance course, Richard Reid ("Abdul Jabal") visited on two separate 
occasions. ARer the course, Hicks returned to Kandahar airport, where Abdul Jabal 
taught a class on the meaning ofjihad. Hicks also received instruction fi-om other a1 
Qaeda members or associates on their interpretation of Islam, the meaning and 
obligations of jihad, and related topics, at other a1 Qaeda training camps in Afghanistan. 

j. That on or about September 9,2001, Hicks traveled to Pakistan to visit a fi-iend. While at 
this fnend's house, Hicks watched television footage of the September 1 1,2001 attacks 
on the United States, and expressed his approval of the attacks. 

k. That on or about September 12,2001, Hicks returned to Affianistan and, again, joined 
with a1 Qaeda. Hicks had heard reports that the attacks were conducted by a1 Qaeda and 
that America was blaming Usama bin Laden. 

1. That upon arriving in Kandahar, Afghanistan, Hicks reported to Saif al Adel, then a1 
Qaeda's deputy military commander and head of the security committee for a1 Qaeda's 
shura council, who was organizing a1 Qaeda forces at locations where it was expected 
there would be fighting against the United States, Northern Alliance, or other Coalition 
forces. Hicks was given a choice of three different locations (city, mountain, or airport), 
and he chose to join a group of a1 Qaeda fighters near the Kandahar Airport. 

m. That Hicks traveled to the Kandahar Airport and was issued an Avtomat Kalashnikova 
1947 (AK-47) automatic rifle. On his own, however, Hicks armed hmself with six (6) 
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ammunition magazines, 300 rounds of ammunition, and three (3) grenades to use in 
fighting the United States, Northern Alliance, and other Coalition forces. 

n. That on or about October 7, 2001, when the Coalition Forces, Operation Enduring 
Freedom, bombing campaign began, Hicks had been at the Kandahar airport for about 
two weeks and entrenched in the area where the initial military strikes occurred. At this 
site, other a1 Qaeda forces were in battle positions based a couple of hundred meters in all 
directions, and were under the direction of another a1 Qaeda leader. 

o. That on or about October 10,2001, after two nights of bombing, Hicks was reassigned 
and joined an armed group outside the airport where he guarded a tank, For about the 
next week Hicks guarded the tank, and every day received food, drink, and updates on 
what was happening from the a1 Qaeda leader in charge. 

p. That Hicks heard fighting was heavy at Mazar-e Sharif, that Kabul would be next, and 
that western countries, including the United States, had joined with the Northern 
Alliance. 

q. That Hicks implemented the tactics he had learned with a1 Qaeda and trained some of the 
others positioned with him at Kandahar. After apparent resistance to his training, and no 
enemy in sight at the time in Kandahar, Hicks decided to look for another opportunity to 
fight in Kabul. 

r. That on or about October 17,2001, Hicks told the a1 Qaeda leader in charge of his plans, 
and then traveled to Kabul, Hicks also took his weapon and all his ammunition. 

s. That Hicks arrived in Kabul and met a fiiend from LET, who requested Hicks go to the 
front lines in Konduz with him, and Hicks agreed. 

t. That on or about November 9,2001, Hicks and his LET friend arrived at Konduz, the day 
before Mazar-e Sharif was captured by the Northern Alliance and U.S. Special Forces. 
Sometime after Hicks arrived at Konduz, he went to the frontline outside the city for two 
hours where he joined a group of a1 Qaeda, Taliban, or other associated fighters, 
including John Walker Lindh, engaged in combat against Coalition forces. Hicks spent 
two hours on the frontline before it collapsed and was forced to flee. During the retreat, 
Hicks saw bullets flying and Northern Alliance tanks coming over the trenches, 

u. That Hicks spent two to three days making his way back to Konduz while being chased 
and fired upon by the Northern Alliance. 

v. That Hicks made it safely back to the city of Konduz, where he approached some of the 
Arab fighters and asked about their plans. The Arabs fighters said they were going back 
into Konduz in order to fight to the death. Hicks, instead, decided to use his Australian 
passport and flee to Pakistan. 
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w. That Hicks then moved secretly within Konduz to a madafah, an Arab safe house. Hicks 
wrote the Arabs a letter that said not to come look for him because he was okay, and left 
the safe house. At this time Hicks still had his weapon, and moved again, secretly, to 
another house where he stayed for about three weeks. Later, a man who spoke some 
english helped Hicks sell his weapon so he could flee to Pakistan. 

x. That in or about December 2001, one week after the control of Konduz changed from the 
Taliban to the Northern Alliance, Hicks took a taxi and fled towards Pakistan. However, 
Hicks was captured by the Northern Alliance in Baghlan, Afghanistan. 

25. SPECIFICATION 2: In that the accused, David Matthew Hicks (a/k/a "David Michael 
Hicks," aMa "Abu Muslim Australia," a/k/a "Abu Muslim Austraili," aMa "Abu Muslim 
Philippine," aMa "Muhammad Dawood;" hereinafter "Hicks"), a person subject to trial by 
military commission as an alien unlawful enemy combatant, did, in or around Afghanistan, 
from in or about December 2000 through in or about December 2001, provide material 
support or resources to be used in preparation for, or in carrying out, an act of terrorism, that 
the accused knew or intended that the material support or resources were to be used for those 
purposes, that the conduct of the accused took place in the context of and was associated with 
an armed conflict, namely a1 Qaeda or its associated forces against the United States or its 
Coalition partners. 

26. That paragraphs (10) through (2 1) of the General Allegations are realleged and incorporated 
by reference for Specification 2 of Charge I. 

27. That paragraph 24 and its subparagraphs (a) through (x) of Specification 1 are realleged and 
incorporated by reference for Specification 2 of Charge I. 

28. SPECIFICATION (a/k/a "David Michael Hicks," 
aMa "Abu Muslim Australia," aMa "Abu Mus a "Abu Muslim 
Philippine," a M  erson subject to trial by 
military commis or around Afghanistan, 
from on or about 2001, attempt to 
commit murder i s fire, explosives, or 
other means and United States, Northern 

oalition forces, while the accused was without combatant immunity as an 
batant who was part of, or supporting, a1 Qaeda, Taliban, or associated 
tilities against the United States or its Coalition partners, and that the 
d took place in the context of and was associated with an armed 
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Detail of Military Judge, and Sctleduling of First Session, United States v. Hicks Page 1 of 2 

From: 

Sent: Tuesday, March 06, 2007 3 5 1  F'M 
To : 

Cc: 

Subject: FW: Detail of Military Judge, ancl Scheduling of First Session, United States v. Hicks 
Attachments: Biographical Sumrnary.doc 

has di~.cctcd that 1 send the elnail helow to the parties. 

Scnior Attoinry Advisor 
iv1ili~~i.y C ~ i ~ i m i s s ~ ~ ~ n s  Trial J U C ~ ~ C I ~ I I . ~  
Dcpar-tnistit oC UcCense 

- - 

From: 
Sent: Tuesday, March 06, 2007 12:31 
To : DoD OGC 
Subject: Detail of Military Judge, and Scheduling of First Session, United States v. Hicks 

Please forward this Email to 1he appropriate persons ICW the subject case. 

All, 

1. In my capacity as Chief Judge, Military Commissions Trial Judiciary, I have detailed myself as Military 
~ u d ~ e  in U.S. v .  Hicks. 

2. The addressees on this email have been identified as detailed trial or defense counsel, or civilian counsel. The 
Chief Prosecutor and Chief Defense Counsel shall immediately advise, by return email, that all such counsel 
are addressees on this email. 

3. Civilian Defense Counsel participating in ihis case should provide a signed copy of the agreement addresscd 
in RMC 502(d)(3)(E) to not lal-er than 1600 EST oil 12 March 2007. 

4. All email traffic with the Military Judge will also be addressed to: AE 3 (Hicks) 
Page 1 of 3 



Detail of Military Judge, and Scheduling of First Session, United States v. Hicks Page 2 of 2 

a. - all of the 0ffic.e of Military Commissions 
Trial Judiciary. 

b. All counsel, civilian and military, on the case. 

c. The Chief Prosecutor and Chief Defense Counsel, along with the Chief Legal NCOs for the Prosecution 
and the Defense, and the paralegals assisting ihe counsel. 

5 .  I have selected 20 March 200'7 as the date for the arraignment TAW RMC 904 at Guantanamo Naval Base, 
Cuba. All counsel are directed to make all necessary arrangements to be present in the GTMO Courtroom for 
this session. 

6. As authorized by RMC 804,I will be issuing Rules of Court for the Military Com:nissions as soon as they 
have been prepared. Until those Rules are issued, I will provide preliminary procedural and other instructions 
as appropriate. I will also provide a trial guide for use at the 20 March session. 

7. Should either side wish to conduct any voir dire of the Military Judge, you must sltbmit your questions to me 
by ema.il not later than 1200 EST on 13 March 2007. A mini-biography for me is attached. 

8. At the 20 March 2007 session, I will establish a full schedule fbr the litigation of this case. Prior to the 
session, counsel are encouraged and urged to discuss this matter and endeavor to agree upon a schedule that 
works as well as possible for both sides. Counsel must take into account, inter alia, the time constraints set 
forth in RMC 707 and appropriate phasing of motions (i.e.: discovery; witness production; law motions; 
evidentiary motions). 

9. If either side belleves they cannot comply with the schedule set forth above, the lead counsel - on behalf of 
all counsel for either side - will immediately request a continuance setting forth a requested date and stating the 
reasons why such a continuance IS necessary. This request shall be contained in the body of an email and must 
be filed not later than 1700 hours, EST, 9 Mai-ch. 

Colonel, U.S. Marine Corps 

A€ 3 (Hicks) 
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Colonel ,  U . S .  Marine Corps  

Born December 5 ,  1958,  in Paterson,  New Jersey.  

Education.  Bachelor of Science,  United States Naval Academy,  
1980.  

Juris  Doctor,  Th.e Delaware Law School,  Widener Universi ty,  1987 

Master  of Law (Mili tary L a w ) ,  The  Judge Advocate General ' s  
School ,  U . S .  Army,  1994.  

Master  of Arts  (National  Securi ty and Strategic Studies) ,  United 
States Naval War College,  2002.  

Military Experience.  Initially designated a Combat Englneer 
Officer .  Served as platoon and detachment commander  and company 
executive officer  in 7'h Engineer Support  Battal ion,  1" Force  Service 
Support  Group.  Served a s  company executive officer  and company 
commander in  3rd  Combat Engineer Battalron, 3d Marine Division.  
Designated a s  a Judge Advocate in 1987.  

Awards and Decorat ions .  Legion of Merit ,  Meritorious Service 
Medal with 3 stars ,  Joint  Service Commendation Medal ,  Wavy-Marine 
Corps  Commendation Medal.  

Legal Experience.  Trial Counsel ,  Senior Defense  Counsel ,  Deputy 
Branch Head (Mili tary Law Branch,  Headquarter  Marine Corps),  
Executive Secretary and USMC Worlting Group Member for Joint 
Service Committee on Mill tary Just ice,  Faculty Member (Criminal  
Law Department,  The  Judge Advocate General 's  School ,  U .S .  Army),  
Mili tary Judge,  Law Center  Director,  Staff  Judge Advocate.  

Judicial Experience.  Military Judge 1998-2001 and July 2005-  
Present .  

AE 3 (Hicks) 
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OFFICE OF THlE SECRETARY OF DEFENSE 
OFFICE C)F MILITARY COMMISSIONS 

1600 DEFENSE PENTAGON 
WASHINGTON, DC 20301-1600 

CONVENING AUTHORITY 

Eastern Judicial Circuit 
Navy-Marine Corps Trial Judiciary 

March 1, 2007 

Colonel 

In accordance with Rule for Military Commissions 503(b)(2) of the Manual for Military 
Conlmissions, you are hereby appointed as the Chief Judge of the Military Commissions Trial 
Judiciary. You were selected from a pool of certified military judges nominated for that purpose 
by The Judge Advocates General of each of the military departments. R.M.C. 503(b)(l). The  
Military Cornmissions Trial Judiciary shall consist of the Chief Trial Judge and such military 
judges as have been nominated under R.M.C. 503(b)(l) to comprise the pool +?om which military 
judges will be detailed to military commissions. R.M.C. 503(b)(3). 

L L  &*L 
Hon. Susan J. Crawfor 
Convening Authority V 

for Military Commissions 



DoD OGC 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

, DoD OGC 
~ r i day ,  March 09, 2007 12:35 PM 

Subject: FW: Detail of Military Judge, and Scheduling of First Session, Ur~ited States v. Hicks 

COL has directed that I send. the email below to the parties 

(MAJ Mori s last email has been copied and pasted below in order to maintain a single 
email thread on this issue.) 

USAR 
Senior Attorney Advisor 
Military Commissions Trial Judiciary 
Department of Defense 

- - - - -  Original Message----- 
From : 
Sent: Friday, March 09, 2007 12:23 
To : LTC, DoD OGC 
Subject: FW: Detail of Military Judge, and Scheduling of First Session, United States v 
Hicks 

Please forward this email to all appropriate persons 

All, 

1. The defense has requested a continuance of the established arraignment date from 20 
March until 27 March. They further a.dvised that a continuance until 26 March satisfies 
their concerns. 

2 .  Th.e request is premised on the accused's apparent wish that a Mr. Dratel be present at 
the hearing in the capacity of civilian defense counsel. 

3. I find that granting this request serves the interests of justice and that this 
continuance does not interfere with the best interest of either the public or the accused 
in providing a prompt trial. for the a.ccused as contemplated in R.M.C. 707(b) (4) (E) . 
4. I further find that for the purpclses of R.M.C. 707, the defense :is responsible for the 
delay occasioned by the granting of this continuance. 

5. The defense request for a contin~ance of the arraignment date from 20 March to 26 
March 2007 is granted. All. counsel are directed to make all necessazry arrangements to be 

AE 5 (Hicks) 
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present in the GTMO Courtroom at 1300 on 26 March 2007 for this sessyon 

6. Counsel are also reminded that should either side wish to conduct: any voir dire of the 
Military Judge, you must submit your questions to me by email not later than 1200 EST on 
13 March 2007. 

Colonel, U.S. Marine Corps 

-----Original Message----- 
From: Mori, Michael, MAJ, DoD OGC 
Sent: Friday, March 09, 2007 11:26 
To: 

Sublect: RE: Detail ot Mllltary Judge, and Scheduling or First Session, Unlted States v. 
Hicks 

The 26th will be fine. Sorry for the delay, I had to confirm Mr. Driitel could get a 
flight into GTMO on the 25th. He got the last seat on Lynx air arriving late afternoon. 

I would request a start time "on the recordn at 1300. This will alLow Mr. Dratel some 
prep time, meeting with Mr. Hicks and time for any RMC 802 conferences, if needed. 

I would request that Mr. Hicks be available at the ccmmission bulldirlg by 0830. 

v/r 
Maj Mori 

Major Michael D. Mori 
United States Marine Corps 
Defense Counsel 
Office of the Chief Defense Counsel, Office of the Military Commissions 
morim@dodgc.osd.mil 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE. The information contained in this e-mail and any accompanying 
attachments may constitute confidential, attorney-client information and work product 
which is legally privileged. This information is the property of the individual attorney 
and respective client. If you are nclt the intended recipient of this information, any 
disclosure, copying, distribution or the taking of any action in relliance on this 
information is strictly prohibited. If you received this e-mail in error, please notify 
us imrr~ediately by return e-mail or by calling the above-numbers. 

- - - -  -Original Message----- 
From : 
Sent: Friday, March 09, 2007 9:49 
To: 

AE 5 (Hicks) 
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prosecut i 
granted: 
reschedul 

. - sir, the prosecution is prepared for the arraignment on 20 Mar. The 
on, however, does not oppose the defense continuance request: provided that, if 
(1) lt is excludable delay in accordance with RMC 707(b) (4); and, (2) the 
ed date is the 26th, vice 27th, due to cited travel availabtlity. Thank you. 

LtCol, USMC 
Prosecutor, Office of Military Commissions 

- - - - - Original Message----- 
From: DoD OGC 
Sent: Friday, March 09, 2007 08:28 
To: 

Subject: RE: Detail of Military Judge:, and Scheduling of First Session, United States v 
Hicks 

MAJ Mori , 

has directed me to request further information regarding the pending defense 
continuance request. We are currently awaiting a response from the prosecution. The 
defense continuance request asked that the hearing be moved to 27 MAR. In the previous 
email regarding this matter, you noted that 26 or 27 MAR would be acceptable. Due to the 
logistics of travel to and from GTMO, 26 MAR would be preferable. (There is a regularly 
scheduled flight from GTMO on 27 March that could handle much of the exit requirements). 
Would a continuance to 26 March adequately address the defense concerns? 

Thank you. 

US AR 
Senior Attorney Advisor 
Military Commissions Trial Judiciary 
Deparzment of Defense 

- - - - -Original Message----- 
From: Mori, Michael, MAJ, DoD OGC 
Sent: Thursday, March 08, 2007 19:08 
To: 

A€ 5 (Hicks) 
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Subject: RE: Detail of Military Judge, and Scheduling of First Session, United States v 
Hicks 

In response to your e-mail, I request a continuance of the arraignment until 
27 March 2007. As previously mentioned, Mr. Dratel has U.S. federal court commitments 
during the week of 19 March 2007. The continuance will enable Mr. H'cks to exercise his 
right to have civilian defense counsel by permitting Mr. Dratel attendance at the 
arraignment on 27 March 2007. 
v/ r 
Maj Mori 

Major Michael D. Mori 
United States Marine Corps 
Defense Counsel 
Office of the Chief Defense Counsel, Office of the Military Commissions 
morim@dodqc.osd.nil 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE. The information contained in this e-mail and any accompanying 
attachments may constitute confidential, attorney-client information and work product 
which is legally privileged. This information is the property of the individual attorney 
and respective client. If you are not the intended recipient of this information, any 
disclosure, copying, distribution or- the taking of any action in re:Liance on this 
information is strictly prohibited. If you received this e-mail in error, please notify 
us immediately by return e-mail or by calling the above-numbers. 

- - - - -  Original Message----- 
From : DoD OGC 
Sent: Thursday, March 08, 2007 16:lO 
To: 

Subject: FW: Detail of Military Judge, and Scheduling of First Session, United States v. 
Hicks 

has directed that I send the email below to the parties. 

USAR 
Senior Attorney Advisor 
Military Commissions Trial Judiciary 
Department of Defense 

AE 5 (Hicks) 
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- - - - -  Original Message----- 
From: 
Sent: Thursday, March 08, 2007 16:04 
To: DoD OGC 
Subject: FW: Detail of Military Judge, and Scheduling of First Session, United States v 
Hicks 

Please forwa-rd this email to Maj Mori and all other appropriate persons 

Maj Mori, 

1. Thank you for clarifying your earlier message. 

2. Since you are not requesting a continuance, the arraignment date remains in place for 
20 March 2007. 

3. As previously noted, L will provide preliminary procedural instructions for counsel in 
the near future. These instructions will address the appearance of civilian counsel 
issue. 

4. Also as previously noted, at the 20 March 2007 session, I will establish a full 
schedule for the litigation of this case. I again recommend that prior to the session, 
the government and the defense discuss this matter and endeavor to agree upon a schedule 
that works as well as possi-ble for bath 
sides. 

Colonel, U.S. Marine Corps 

- - - - -  Oriqinal Messaqe----- 
From : 
Sent: Thursday, March 08, 2007 14:41 
To: 

Subject: RE: Detail of Military Judge, and Scheduling of First Session, United States v. 
Hicks 

The defense is not requesting a continuance. Perhaps it would be helpful to review how we 
got to where we are now. On 2 March, of the Office of Military Commissions Trial 
Judiciary asked Col about counsel availability for the weeks of 19 and 26 March. 
The same day, Col informed that the detailed counsel were to be TAD the 
week of 19 March, in part to interview witnesses and investigate the facts of the case. 
On 6 March, it was announced that the arraignment had been scheduled for 20 March. 
Detailed defense counsel cancelled their TAD to attend the 20 March arraignment. On 8 
March, the defense informed Your Honor that civilian defense counsel could not attend the 
scheduled arraignment due to previously scheduled federal court appearances in three 
different cases. 

It is Mr. Hicksr intention to invoke his right to civilian defense counsel at the 20 March 
hearing. Mr. Hicks intends to appoint Mr. Dratel as lead counsel. The defense is not 
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requesting a continuance. Rather, detailed defense counsel is simply informing Your Honor 
that the civilian counsel Mr. 
Hicks plans to request cannot attend the 20 March hea-ring. Should the arraignment proceed 
on 20 March, detailed counsel will be there. 
Alternatively, should Your Honor wish to begin the commission on a date when civiliari 
defense counsel can be present so th~.t more can be accomplished at the first hearing, 1 
have provided dates when civilian defense counsel can attend, assuming the legal vacuum 
addressed below has been filled. 

It is unclear why this case is proceeding before the military commisvion process has been 
completely set up. The RMC 502 ( d )  ( 3 )  ( E )  issue raised by myself and Col Sullivan, which 
has so far gone unaddressed, highlights the legal difficulties that arise when a case 
begins before the implementing regulz.tions are adopted. Under existing commission 
regula.tions, it is legally impossible for a civilian defense counsel to enter a case 
because the Secretary of Defense has not yet issued the form that RMC 502 (d) (3) ( E )  
requires. The government is responsi.ble for the current legal posture of the case in 
which charges are proceeding against David Hicks despite the absence of necessary 
implementing regulations. 

V/  R 
Maj Mori 

Major Michael D. Mori 
United States Marine Corps 
Defense Counsel 
Office of the Chief Defense Counsel, Office of the Military Commissions 
morim@dodgc.osd.mil 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE. The information contained in this e-mail and any accompanying 
attachments may constitute confidenti-al, attorney-client information and work product 
which is legally privileged. This information is the property of the individual attorney 
and respective client. If you are not the intended recipient of this information, any 
disclosure, copying, distribution or the taking of any action in reliance on this 
information is strictly prohibited. If you received this e-mail in error, please notify 
us immediately by return e-mail or by calling the above-numbers. 

- - - - -  Original Message----- 
From : DoD OGC 
Sent: Thursday, March 08, 2007 12:23 
To: 

Subject: FW: Detail of Military Judge, and Scheduling of First Session, United States v. 
Hicks 

has directed that I send the email below to the parties 

USAR 
Senior Attorney Advisor 

AE 5 (Hicks) 
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Military Commissions Trial Judiciary 
Department of Defense 

-----Original Message----- 
From : 
Sent: Thursday, March 08, 2007 12:17 
To: 
Subject: FW: Detail of Military Judge, and Scheduling of First Session, United States v. 
Hicks 

Please forward this email to Maj Mori and all other iippropriate persons. 

Maj Mori, 

1. I established a 20 March 2007 arraignment date in my email of 6 P4arch 2007 

2. Are you requesting a continuance from 20 March to 26 March? 

3 .  For the Prosecution: If Maj Mori clarifies that the Defense is requesting a 
continuance in this matter, please respond ASAP whether the Government opposes the 
requested continuance. 

4. The attachment contains the appointing letter from the Convening Authority 

Colonel, U.S. Marine Corps 

- - - - - Original Message----- 
From : 
Sent: Thursdav, March 08, 2007 10~53 
To : 

Subject: RE: Detail of Military Judge, and Scheduling of First Session, United States v. 
Hicks 

I request the arraignment date be set. for 26 or 27 March. Your office was informed by Col 
Sullivan that Mr. Hicks detailed courlsel would be TAD until 
23 March. As a result of your e-mail, we are turning off our TAD. 
Unfortunately, Mr. Dratel, Hicks' civilian counsel, has several federal court commitments 
set for 19, 20 and 22 March in three different federal terrorism cases. The hearing on 
the 22nd is being held in Dallas, Texas and 
Mr. Dratel must travel there 21 March. Mr. Dratel is available for an 
arraignment in GTMO on 26 and 27 March. 

In your e-mail you reference an agreement addressed in RMC 502(d)(3)(E) which needs to be 
signed by civilian counsel. I do not believe this 
agreement exists yet. If your office has it, could you please send it to 
me and I will get it to Mr. Dratel ASAP. 

Would you also be able to provide a copy of any docurtlent which was created. to appoint you 
as the Chief Military Judge for Military Commissions. 

7 
AE 5 (Hicks) 
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V/ r 
Maj Mori 

Major Michael D. Mori 
United States Marine Corps 
Defense Counsel 
Office of the Chief Defense Counsel, Office of the Military Commissions 
morim@dodqc.osd.mil ~mailto:morim@dodgc.osd.mil> 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE. The information contained in this e-mail and any accompanying 
attachments may constitute confidential, attorney-client information and work product 
which is legally privileged. This information is the property of the individual attorney 
and respective client. If you are nc,t the intended recipient of this information, any 
disclosure, copying, distribution or the taking of any action in reliance on this 
information is strictly prohibited. If you received this e-mail in error, please notify 
us immediately by return e-mail or by calling the abcve-numbers. 

From : 
Sent : ~ u e s d a ~ ,   arch- 06, 2007 15 : 51 
To: 

Subject: FW: Detall of Military Judge, and Scheduling of First Session, United States v. 
Hlcks 

has directed that I send the email below to the parties. 

USAR 
Senior Attorney Advisor 
Military Commissions Trial Judiciary 
Department of Defense 

From : 
Sent: Tuesday, March 06, 2007 12:31 
To: DoD OGC 
Subject: Detail of Military Judge, and Scheduling of First Session, United States v. Hicks 

Please forward this Ernail to the appropriate persons ICW the subject case 

A€ 5 (Hicks) 
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1. In my capacity as Chief Judge, Military Commissions Trial Judiciary, I have detailed 
myself as Military Judge in U.S. v. Hicks. 

2. The addressees on this email have been identified as detailed trial or defense counsel, 
or civilian counsel. The Chief Prosecutor and Chief Defense Counsel shall immediately 
advise, by return email, that all such counsel are addressees on this email. 

3. Civilian Defense Counsel participating in this case should provide a signed copy of 
the agreement addressed in RMC 502 (d) ( 3 )  (E) to not later than 1600 EST on 12 
March 2007. 

4. All email traEfic with the Military Judge will also be addressed to: 

a. - all of the Office of 
Military Commissions Trial Judiciary. 

b. All counsel, civilian and military, on the case 

c. The Chief Prosecutor and Chief Defense Counsel, along with the Chief Legal NCOs 
for the Prosecution and the Defense, and the paralegals assisting the counsel. 

5. I have selected 20 March 2007 as the date for the arraignment IAW RMC 
904 at Guantanamo Naval Base, Cuba. All counsel are directed to make all necessary 
arrangements to be present in the GTMO Courtroom for this session. 

6. As authorized by RMC 804, I will be issuing Rules of Court for the Military 
Commissions as soon as they have been prepared. Until those Rules are issued, I will 
provide preliminary procedural and other instructions as appropriate. I wili also provide 
a trial guide for use at the 20 March session. 

7. Should either side wish to conduct any voir dire of the Military Judge, you must 
submit your questions to me by email not later than 1.200 EST on 13 March 2007. A mini- 
biography for me is attached. 

8. At. the 20 March 2007 session, I will establish a full schedule for the litigation of 
this case. Prior to the session, counsel are encouraged and urged to discuss this matter 
and endeavor to agree upon a schedule that works as well as possible for both sides. 
Counsel must take into account, inter aiia, the time constraints set forth in RMC 707 and 
appropriate phasing of motions (i.e.: discovery; witness production; law motions; 
evidentiary motions). 

9. If either side believes they cannot comply with the schedule set forth above, the lead 
counsel - on behalf of all counsel for either side - will immediately request a 
continuance setting forth a requested date and stating the reasons why such a continuance 
is necessary. This request shall be contained in the body of an email and must be filed 
not later than i700 hours, EST, 9 March. 

Colonel, U.S. Marine Corps 
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Colone l ,  U .S .  Marine Corps 

Born December 5 ,  1958, in Paterson, New Jersey.  

Education. Bachelor o f  Science,  United States Naval Academy, 
1980. 

Juris Doctor,  The Delaware Law School,  Vv'idener University, 1987 

Master of Law (Military Law), The Judge Advocate General ' s  
School,  U.S.  Army, 1994.  

Master of Arts (National Security and Strategic Studies) ,  United 
States Naval War College,  2002. 

Military Experience.  Initially designated a Combat Engineer 
Officer.  Served as platoon. and detachment commander and company 
executive officer in  7'h ~ n ~ i n e e r  Support  Battal ion,  1" Force Service 
Support  Group.  Served as company executive officer and. company 
commander in 3Td Combat Engineer Battalion, 3d Marine Division.  
Des ig~ .a ted  as a Judge Advocate in 1987.  

Awardls and Decorations.  Legion of Merit ,  Meritorious Service 
Medal with 3 s tars ,  Joint  Service Commendation Medal,  Navy-Marine 
Corps Commendation Medal.  

Legal Experience.  Trial Counsel, Senior Defense Counsel, Deputy 
Branch Head (Military Law Branch,  Headquarter Marine Corps), 
Execuiive Secretary and USMC Working Group Member for Joint 
Service Committee on Mili tary Justice, Faculty Member (Criminal 
Law Department,  The Judge Advocate General 's  School,  U . S .  Army),  
Mili tary Judge,  Law Center Director,  Staff  Judge Advocate. 

Judicial Experience.  Military Judge 1998-2001 and July 2005- 
Present.  
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Preliminary Procedural Instruclions: U.S. v. Hicks Page 1 of 1 

DoD OGC 
- - 

From: DoD OGC 
Sent: Friday, March 09,2007 3:38 PM 
To: 

Cc: 

Subj'ect: FW: Preliminary Procedural Instructions: U.S. v. Hicks 
Attachments: MJ Procedure for Counsel (Hicks).pdf 

has dircctcd that I send the eniail belo\$. to the pal-tics. 

From: 
Sent: Friday, March 09, 2007 15:14 
To : DoD OGC 
Subject: Preliminary Procedural Instructions: U.S. v. Hicks 

Please send the attached Preliminary Procedural lnstruztions for U.S. v Hicks to the appropriate persons. 

VIR, 

Colonel, U.S. Marine Corps 
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UNITED STATES 
OF 

AMERICA 

DAV1:D MATTHEW HICKS 
a/k/a "David Michael Hicks 

a/k!a "Abu Muslim Australia" 
d W a  "Abu Muslim Austraili" 

aMa "Abu Muslim Philippine" 
a/k/a "Muhammad Dawood" 

I Preliminary Procedural Instructions 
I 
1 
1 
I 
1 
1 
1 
I 9 March 2007 
1 
1 
1 

Par t  I - Introduction 

1. I have detailed myself as military j~.dge in the above-styled case in my capacity as Chief 
Judge, Military Commissions Trial Judiciary. 

2. Rules of Court (see R.M.C. 108 and 801) have not yet been promulgated. This document shall 
serve to establish procedures for the trial of the above styled case until such Rules of Court are 
published. The military judge may make exceptions to the below procedures as are necessary in 
the interests of justice and, when and if such exceptions are made, the parties shall be so advised. 

3. This document shall be read to be consistent with the Military Commissions Act of 2006 
(M.C.A.) and the Manual for Military Commissions 2007 (M.M.C.), and it will not be 
interpreted or applied so as to contravene the M.C.A. or the M.M.C. In the event of any actual or 
apparent inconsistency, the M.C.A. and the M.M.C. shall control. 

4. When used in these instructions, the "OMCTJ staff' shall consist of the Senior Attorney 
Advisor to the Military Commissions Trial Judiciary, any other Attorney Advisor to the Military 
Commissions Trial Judiciary, and the NCOIC of the Military Commissions Ti-ial Judiciary. 

Par t  XI - Communications, Contact, and Problem Solving 

1. This part establishes general procedures for communications among counsel, the military 
judges and OMCTJ staff. These procedures are designed to avoid exparte communications, to 
ensure that procedural matters leading to trial are handled efficiently, and to provide efficient and 
expeditious methods of communications. Exparte comm~inication by a party with the military 
judge or vice versa concerning the case is prohibited except as authorized by l~he M.C.A. or the 
M.M.C. (e.g. R.M.C. 701 -703 and Mil. Comm. R. Evid. 505). 
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2. The preferred, and most reliable, method of communication among the milctary judges and 
counsel is email with CCs to all opposing counsel, clerks and paralegals, the entire OMCTJ staff, 
and the Chief ProsecutorIChief Defense Counsel and their chief legal clerks. 'The following email 
conventions will be followed. Failure to comply with these rules will result in the 
communication being returned for compliance with these rules. 

a. Do not send e-mail directly 1-0 the military judge. The military judge should be listed 
as CC only. The OMCTJ staff is the support staff for the military judges and is the clearing 
house through which their communications are routed. Communications sent directly to military 
judges will not be acted upon by the military judge, but will be forwarded to the OMCTJ staff for 
appropriate zction. Communications will not be deemed to be received by a rnilitary judge 
unless and until the OMCTJ staff has been included on the e-mail. 

b. Ali e-mail to the OMCTJ staff for action by a military judge shall be sent to all 
members of the OMCTJ staff. The email will also be CC'd to counsel for both sides, the Chief 
Defense Counsel, the Chief Prosecutor, the Chief Legal Clerks for the Prosecution and Defense, 
and the paralegals assigned to the case. 

c. Do not send classified information or Protected Information in the body of an email or 
as an attachment. 

d. Keep emails to a single subject, and use a simple yet descriptive subject line. If the 
email concerns an item that has a filings designation (see Part IV infr-a), the filing designation 
shall be included in the subject line. 

e. Identifj~, in the body of the email, each attachment being sent. 

f. Every paragraph and sub-paragraph of any email to the military judge or OMCTJ staff 
that contains more than one paragraph or sub-paragraph wcll be numbered or lettered to provide 
for easy reference. A logical numbering or lettering scheme shall be used, such as: 12 a (1) (a) (i) 
(ii). Roman numerals wlll not be used. 

g. All attachments to a filing will be sent in the same email as the document to which it is 
an attachment. If such email would exceed the capabilities of the LAN, permission for an 
exception to send an attachment by separate email should be requested. (This practice will be 
used judiciocsly.) 

h. Text attachments will be, in order of preference, in Microsoft Word, HTMJEITML, or 
RTF. Attachments will not be in "track changes" or "mark-up" format. If it is necessary to send 
images, JPG, BMP, or TIFF may be used. Consult the OMCTJ staff if you need to send other file 
formats. 

i. Save all emails you send for your record copy of the communication. 

j. Avoid archiving or compressing files (such as Winzip). Before sending an archived or 
compressed file, get permission from the OMCTJ staff. 
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k. If the military judge will need to know classified information to resolve the matter, 
advise him/her of that fact in the email and the location of the materials that helshe will need to 
review (if such facts or locations are not classified or Protected). 

1. Given the potential number of counsel and changes in the trial teams, all parties must 
ensure that all who need the email receive a copy. If any addressee notices that an email was not 
CC'd to a person who needs to have a copy, fonvard a copy to the person who needs that email 
and advise the sender and all CC's of the failure to include the person. 

3. Because of potential changes to the composition of trial teams, the military judge or OMCTJ 
staff may elect to send an email to the Chief Defense Counsel or Prosecutor, andlor their 
respective Chief Legal NCOs, for distribution to all counsel, or all counsel of a particular team. 
The OMCT,' staff and the military judge will be copied on the email that is forwarded to those to 
whom distribution was directed in compliance with these instructions. 

4. When a telephonic conference is necessary, the military judge will designate the person to 
arrange the conference call. Conference calls will be IAW M.M.C., R.M.C. 802. 

5. When autlriorized by these instructions, or directed by the military judge, any member of the 
OMCTF staff may sign for and issue clirections, instructions, requests, or rulirlgs to the parties 
and others "For the Military Judge" or "By Direction of the Military Judge." Signatures "for" or 
"by directior of '  cany the same force and effect as if signed by, or personally issued by, the 
military judge 

Part I11 - Motion Practice 

1. Definitions. 

a. A "motion" is an application to the military judge for particular relief or for the military 
judge to direct another to perform, or not perform, a specii-ic act. A motion as used herein also 
specifically includes those motions addressed in R.M.C. 905, 906, and 907. 

b. A "filing" includes a written motion, response, reply, supplement, nstice of a motion, 
special request for relief, or other communication involved in resolving a motion. 

c. A "response" is the opposing party's answer to a motion. 

d. A "reply" is the moving party's answer to a response. 

e. A "supplement" is a filing ir: regard to a motion other than a motion, response, or 
reply. 

2. How motions are made. Motions shall be made in writing in accordance with these 
instructions unless the military judge permits or directs otherwise. Should a matter come to the 
attention of a party at such a time or i n  a situation in which they have insufficient time to file a 
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written motion, they shall immediately notify the military judge, all opposing counsel, and the 
OMCTJ staff of the nature of the motion, the nature of the relief sought, and the reasons why the 
motion cannot be made in writing. When done by email, follow the instructions in Part I1 above. 

3. Special requests for relief. A special request for relief relieves counsel of :he specialized 
format for filings (motions, reply, and response) generally. A special request, and the responses 
and replies thereto, can be in the body of an email. 

a. Ordinarily, requests for relief will be in the form of a motion using the format 
established herein. Counsel may at times have requests for relief that do not irlvolve extensive 
facts or citations to authority. Common special requests for relief could address, for example, 
requests to: supplement a filing, for an extension to submil: a filing, for an extension of a timing 
requirement, to adjust the "received" date of a filing, to append or attach documents to a 
previously made filing, or like matters that do not involve contested matters of law or fact. 

c. The military judge, or on behalf of the military judge, an OMCTJ Attorney Advisor 
may direct that a special request for relief be resubmitted a.s a motion before the matter will be 
considered by the military judge . 

d. Th.e content of a special request for relief will contain the name of the case, the precise 
nature of the relief requested, those facts necessary to decide the request, citations to authority if 
any, and why the relief is necessary. 

4. Sending and receiving filings. 

a. A filing is "sent" or "filed" when sent via email to the correct email address of the 
recipient(s). If there is a legitimate question whether the email system functioned correctly 
(undeliverable email notification for example), the sender shall again send the filing until 
satisfied it was transmitted or an email receipt is received. 

b. A filing is "received" by the opposing party when it is sent to the proper parties with 
the following exceptions: 

(1). The recipient was OCONUS when the email was sent, in which case the filing 
is received on the first duty day following return from OCONUS. 

(2). The filing was sent on a Friday, Saturday, or Sunday when the recipient was 
not OCONUS, in which case the filing is received the following Monday. If the following 
Monday is a Federal holiday, the filing is received on the following Tuesday. 

(3). Upon request by the receiving party or the Chief Prosecutor or Defense 
Counsel or their Chief Deputies on behalf of their counsel, the military judge establishes a 
different "received date" to account for unusual circumstances. Requests to extend the time a 
filing was received shall be in the form of a special request for relief. In the alternative, a request 
for an extension may be filed. 
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5. Timing for filing motions, responses, and replies. 

a. Motions. 

(1). Timing. Motions addressed in R.M.C. 905(b)(l) - ( 5 )  must be raised and 
made by the time provided in R.M.C. 905 (b) unless the military judge directs otherwise. As to 
other motions, the military judge will ordinarily establish a deadline for the filing of motions by 
way of an Order. 

(2). Format of a motion: See Enclosure 1 

(3). Waiver. Motions which are not made in a timely fashion shall be waived. 
Requests for exceptions to waiver must be addressed to the military judge with motion-specific 
reasons for hilure to make the motion in a timely fashion. 

b. Responses. 

(1). Timing. Unless the military judge provides otherwise, a response is due 
within 7 calendar days after a motion is received. 

(2). Format of a response: See Enclosure 2. 

c. Replies. 

(I).  Counsel may submit a reply to a response, however Counsel must take care 
that matters that should have been raised in the original motion are not being presented for the 
first time as a reply. Replies are unnecessary to simply state that the party disagrees with a 
response. If a reply is not filed, that i~dicates that the party stands on their motion or initial 
filing, and it does not indicate agreement with a response. 

(2). Timing: Replies shall be filed within three days of receiving a response 
unless the party does not desire to file a response. 

(3). Format for a reply: See Enclosure 3. 

6. Burdens of proof and persuasion in motion practice. 

a. As a general rule, the burderr of proof (production of evidence and preponderance of 
evidence), and the burden of persuasicn are on the moving party. (See R.M.C. 905(c)). In any 
motion in which the moving party does not believe that the general rule should apply, or believes 
that one or both of the burdens should change after a certain quantum of evidence is ~ntroduced, 
the party must provide in the filing: 

(1). A statement of the 'burden of proof (production of evidence) in the particular 
motion, 
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(2). A statement of the burden of persuasion in the particular motion, 

(3). The point, if any, at which either the burden of proof or the burden of 
persuasion is shifted to Ihe non-moving party, and 

(4). The legal argument in support of the statement. 

b. A response must address those matters raised by the moving party. 

7. Rulings on motions. 

a. The military judge shall make final rulings on all motions submitted to h i d h e r  based 
upon the written filings of the parties submitted in accordance with this document, and the facts 
and law as determined by the military judge, unless: 

(1). Material facts necessary to resolution of the motion are in dispute and require 
the taking of' evidence; or 

(2). A party correctly asserts in a filing that the law does not permit a ruling on 
filings alone, accompanied by citation to the authority which prohibits the military judge from 
ruling on the filings alone. 

b. The military judge, in hislher sole discretion, determines that oral argument is 
necessary to provide a full and fair trial. 

c. Set? also R.M.C. 905(e). 

Part 1%'- Marking and Handling Documents 

1. The OMC'TJ staff may assign a unique filing designation to each motion, filing, order, or other 
document as it is presented to the military judge or issued by the military judge. (Counsel should 
not endeavor to assign filing designations.) The designations are: 

a. First letter designations: 
= First Letter D for motions filed by the defense. 

First letter P for motions filed by the prosecution. 
First letter M for matters originating with the military judge (such as a show 
cause, protective, or docketing order). 

b. Numbers: After the letter designation shall be an Arabic number 

c. SuTfix: After the number may be a suffix. 
The original filing, such as a motion, shall have no suffix. 
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o Example: D-1 is the first motion filed by the defense. 
The next filing on the same topic shall be an A. 

o Example: D- 1-A is a response to the motion D-1. While the A 
suffix is usually a response to a motion, it need 11ot be, as when a 
supplement is filed after the motion and before the reply. 

2. The OMCTJ staff will preserve the comnlunications anci filings of the parties marking them as 
Appellate Exhibits (AE), as directed by the military judge, and keeping an ~ndex of Appellate 
Exh~bits. Copies of all Appellate Exhibits (except in the case of material requiring special 
handling) wi.1 be made available to counsel for both sides and in the courtroom during any 
session. Once a session has been held, the original copy of the Appellate Exhibits will be 
provided to the Chief Clerk for Military Commissions for safekeeping and for belng made 
avarlable at the next session. 

3. Once marked and approved by the military judge, electronic copies of the Appellate Exhibits 
will be provided to the Chief Clerk for Military Commissions. Neither the military judge nor the 
OMCTJ staff will perform any security or other review for classified, Privacy Act, or Sensitive 
But Unclass~ fied information. As a general rule, the military judge takes no position on whether 
an Appellate Exhibit may be publicly released. However, if the military judge determines that an 
Appellate Exhibit should not be releascd in the interests of' ensuring the parties receive a fair trial 
or for other seasons, the military judge will direct that a particular exhibit be sealed or not 
released to the public for a certain period. The military judge's decision to seal or not authorize 
the release of an Appellate Exhibit, or a portion thereof, will be commun~catetl to counsel for 
both sides. 

Part V - Appearance, Absence, and Excusal, Rellief or Withdrawal of Counsel 

1. Detailing and appearance. 

a. Military Counsel. 

(1) Detailed Counsel (DC) - Military counsel have made an aFpearance on behalf 
of the Unitec! States or an accused when such counsel are detailed by proper authority to a case 
which has been referred for trial by a military commission 

(2) Upon being detailed to a case, counsel will provide copies of the detailing 
documents to the military judge and OCMTJ staff and, if k.nown, to opposing counsel. 

( 3 )  Pursuant to R.M.C. 503, and these preliminary procedural instructions, 
Detailed Defense Counsel (DDC) represents the interests of an accused upon detailing. 

(4) If any DDC believes that hidher participation in the Military Commissions or 
representation of an accused is or may be prohibited because of ethical or other considerations, 
helshe shall follow the procedures set forth in R.M.C. 109. 
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( 5 )  Until the DDC is relieved or excused fr.om hisher duty of representation by 
competent A.uthority, the DDC will continue to represent the interests of an accused. 

(6) Under R.M.C. 109 and 506, it is the responsibility of the Chief Defense 
Counsel (CDC) to provide representation for an accused at all times by detailing a qualified 
defense counsel. 

b. Civilian Counsel. A Civilian Counsel (CC) will b~: deemed to have entered an 
appearance with the commission when: 

(1) The CC submits written notice of representation as counsel of record for the 
acc-~sed to the military judge via the CDC using the format found at Enclosure (4); and 

(2) The CC has signed and submitted a statement agreeing to comply with the 
requirements of 10 U.S.C. §949c(b)(3)(E). mote: Until such time as the Secretary ofDefense 
prescribes an u,oreementpztrsuant to I0 U.S.C. 949cfb)(3)(E), civilian coz~nsel shall satisfy the 
requirement addressed in R.M.C 502/4(3)(E) throu~h submission o f  the form at Enclostire 4, 
which contains the required language o f  the M. C.A.) 

c. Other Assistants to Counsel. If a party has R.M.C. 506(d) assistant(s) who will be 
present at a commission session or trial, and the party desires the assistant's presence at counsel 
table, the party will notify the military judge, the OMCTJ :staff, and opposing counsel of the 
identity of the assistant and the capacity in which the assistant will serve. 

2. Presence of counsel at commission sessions. The following rules govern the presence of 
counsel at Commission sessions. 

a. As a general rule, all DC and CC who have entered an appearance in a specific case 
must attend all sessions of that case before the Commissio:n. 

b. Permitted Absence - Permission given by the military judge to a counsel, who has 
entered an appearance, to be absent fiom a session of the proceedings. 

c. The military judge may authorize counsel's absence from a particular session with 
advanced waiver of that counsel's presence by their client. Any counsel seeking authorization 
for absence from a session will request permission from the military judge and provide written 
evidence of the waiver by the client. 

d. If a counsel's presence is waived by the client and such absence has been authorized 
by the militaly judge, that absence will not limit the business that is scheduled to be 
accomplished at the session for which a counsel has been authorized to be absent. For example, 
if the Commission is scheduled to hear motions, the fact that a client has waived the appearance 
of a counsel would not allow a party to defer or avoid litigating a motion because the said 
counsel is not present. Similarly, consideration of matters that arise during a session in which a 
counsel's presence has been waived will not be subject to deferral simply because of the absence 
of the counsel whose presence has been waived. 
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e. The notice of waiver to the rnilitary judge will contain the following information: 

(1) In the case of the defense, a signed waiver by the accused must be provided to 
the military judge in advance of the scheduled session. The waiver must indicate that: 

(a) The accused is expressly waiving the presence of a named counsel for 
the scheduled Commission session and be signed by the accused, DDC, and the lead defense 
counsel, if other than the DDC. The waiver will be in English or, if the original is in a language 
other than English, translated into English. 

(b) The accused and lead counsel for the defense and the counsel seeking 
pennission to be absent are aware that absence of the counsel does not permit delay or deferral of 
business of the Commission because said counsel is absent, and that another counsel for the 
defense who will be present can fully address and litigate, if necessary, any business of the 
Commission 

(c) The accused understands that another of his defense counsel is 
responsible for ensuring all business of the Commission can be conducted at the session. 

(d) The request is not for the purposes of seeking delay and will not, in 
fact, delay Commission proceedings. 

(e) The format contained at Enclosure ( 5 ) ,  Waiver of Counsel, may be 
used by the defense. 

(2) In the case of the prosecution, the waiver must be approved by the Chief 
Prosecutor or lead prosecutor. The absence of a prosecutor for a particular session will not limit 
the business to be conducted at that session whether anticipated or not. 

f. In lieu of the signed waiver directed by paragrapis 2.c and 2.d above, the client may, at 
a session at which the civilian counsel is present, state that the civilian counsel's presence is 
waived for al.1 subsequent sessions at which the civilian counsel does not appear. The client 
must state that he understands those matters addressed in paragraph 2.e(l)(b) above and 
specifically that he understands that other matters may be handled at such sessions which would 
normally have been handled by the civilian counsel and that he waives such advice and 
assistance. 

g. In cases in which there has been an on-the-record or written waiver of the future 
presence of civilian counsel at sessions, the civilian counsel will not be required to be present at 
all sessions. 

h. If, at any session, the accused seeks to revoke his written or on-the-record waiver of 
the presence of the civilian counsel, the civilian counsel will be required to be present at all 
subsequent trial temis of the Commission. Alternatively, the civilian counsel may request to 
withdraw from the case completely, and the request will b~: granted at the discretion of the 
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military judge. Any such revocation of waiver by the accused during a given trial term will not 
require the civilian counsel's presence during the trial term at which the revocation of waiver was 
made. 

3. Excusal, relief or withdrawal of counsel. 

a. Excusal/Relief/Withdrawal - The termination of all representational responsibility of a 
detailed cou~qsel or a qualified civilian counsel after entering an appearance. 

b. Detailed Counsel: See R.M.C. 505(d) and 506(b) 

c. See R.M.C. 506(b). 

colonel, U.S. Marine Corps 
Military Judge 

5 Enclosures 
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Enclosure 1 - Format for a Motion 
-7 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

[Name of Accused] 

[aka if any; not required] 

Defense ICZotion 
to Suppress Oct 5 ,  2002 Statement Allegedly Made by 

the Accused to Joe Jones 

[Date motion filed] 
Note: Use bold as shown above. 

Note: The caption above was created using a 2 column table. Counsel may use that method, or any 
other, that separates the name of the case from the name of the filing. 

NOTE: The following will be included in st?parately numbered paragraphs. Use Arabic numbers. -- 

1. A statement that the motion is being filed within the time frames and other established 
guidance or direction of the military j ~ d g e .  

2. A concise statement of the relief sought. 

3. (Optional): An overview of the substance of the motion. 

4. (May be required.) Statement concerning burden of proof. 

5 .  The facts, and the source of those facts (witness, document, physical exhibit, etc.). Each 
factual assertion will be in a separate, lettered sub-paragraph. This will permit responses to 
succinctly admit or deny the existence of facts alleged by the moving party. If the facts are, or 
the identity c:lf the source is, protected or classified, that status will be noted. 

6. Why the law requires the relief sought in light of the facts alleged including proper citations to 
authority relied upon. 

7. Whether oral argument is requested or required by law. If asserted that argument is required 
by law, citations to that authority, and why the position of the party cannot be made fully known 
by filings. 

8. The identlty of witnesses that will be required to testify on the matter in person, andlor 
evldentiary matters that will be required. Listing a witness is not a request for the witness. 
Stating the evidence needed is not a discovery request or a request for access lo evidence. 

9. Additional information not required to be set forth as above. 

10. A list of attachments. 
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Enclosure 2 - Fo 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

p a m e  of Accused] 

[aka ff any; not required] 

-mat for a Response 
D-1 (Filing Designation as assigned by OMCTJ staff) 

Government Response 
To Defense Motion to Suppress Oct 5,2002 Statement 

Allegedly Made by the Accused to Joe Jones 

[Date motion filed] 
Note: Use bold as shown above. 

NOTE: The following will be included in separately numbered paragraphs. Use Arabic numbers. 

1. A statement that the response is being filed within the time frames and other established 
guidance or direction of the military judge. 

2. Whether the responding party believes that the motion should be granted, denied, or granted in 
part. If granted in part, the response shall be explicit what relief, if any, the responding party 
believes s h o ~ l d  be granted. 

3. Overview - Optional. This paragraph is not required even if the motion had an overview. 

4. Those facis cited in the motion that the responding party agrees are correct. When a party 
agrees to a fact in motions practice, it shall constitute a good faith belief that the fact will be 
stipulated to for purposes of resolving a motion. The agreed upon facts will correspond to the 
subparagrapl-I in the motion containing the facts involved. 

5. The responding party's statement of the facts, and the source of those facts (witness, 
document, physical exhibit, etc.), insofar as they may differ from the motion. As much as 
possible, each factual assertion should be in a separate, lettered subparagraph. If the facts or 
identity of tbe source is protected or classified, that status will be noted. These factual assertions 
will correspond to the subparagraph in the motion containing the facts involved. 

6. Why the law does not require or permit the relief sought in light of the facts alleged, including 
proper citations to authority relied upon. 

7. (May be required): Address issue regarding burdens if addressed in the motion, or it is 
otherwise required to be addressed. 

8. VJhether oral argument is requested or required by law. If asserted that argument is required 
by law, citations to that authority, and why the position of the party cannot be made h l ly  known 
by filings. 

9. The identity of witnesses that will be required to testify on the matter in person, and/or 
evidentiary matters that will be required. Listing a witness is not a request for the witness. 
Stating the evidence needed is not a discovery request or a request for access to evidence. 

10. Additional information not required to be set forth as above. 

1 I. A list of attachments. 
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Enclosure 3 - Format for a Reply 

STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

mame of Accused] 

D-1 (Filing Designation as assigned by OMCTJ staff) 

Defense Reply 
to Government Response to Defense Motion to 

Suppress Oct 5 ,  2002 Statement Allegedly Made by the 
Accused to Joe Jones 

NOTE: The following will be included in separately numbered paragraphs. Use Arabic numbers. 

[aka if any; not required] 

1. A statemeld that the reply is being filed within the time frames and other established guidance or 
direction of the military judge. 

[Date motion filed] 
Note: Use bold as shown above. 

2. In separately numbered paragraphs, address the response as needed. When referring to the 
response, identify the paragraph in the response being addressed. 

3. Citations -to additional authority if necessary. 

4. The identity o f  witnesses not previously mentioned in the motion or response who will be 
required to testify on the matter in person, and/or evidentiary matters not previously mentioned 
in the motion or response that will be required. Listing a bitness is not a request for the witness. 
Stating the evidence needed is not a discovery request or a request for access to evidence. 

5 .  Additional information not required to be set forth as above. 

6. A list of any additional attachments. 

Page AE 14 of 



Enclosure 4 - Notice of Appearance 
- 

) 
U N I T E D  S T A T E S O F A M E R I C A  ) CIVILIAN DEFENSE COUNSEL 

) NOTICE OF APPEARANCE 
v. ) AND AGREEMENT 

) 
NAME ) (DATE) 

1 
) 
1 

1 .  Pursuant to procedures of court/instruction for counsel, I, ATTORNEY'S FULL NAME, 
hereby provide notice to the military judge of my appearance on behalf of CLIENT'S FULL 
NAME. My office address, phone numbers, and e-mail ad.dress are: ADDRESS, VOICE AND 
FAX PHONE NUMBERS, & E-MAIL ADDRESS. I am an active member in good standing 
licensed to p~actice in the following jurisdictions: LIST BAR ADMISSIONS. 

2. I understand and agree that I must comply with all the applicable regulations or instnlctions 
for counsel, including any rules of court for conduct during the proceedings. I further agree to 
protect any classified information received during the course of the representation of the accused 
in accordanc 2 with all applicable law governing the protection of classified information, and 
shall not divulge such information to any person not authorized to receive it. 

COUNSEL NAME 
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Enclosure 5 -Waiver of Presence of Counsel 

U N I T E D S T A T E S OF AMERICA ) WAIVER OF PRESENSE OF COUNSEL 

v. 
) 
1 
1 (DATE) 

NAME 1 

1 .  I, ACCUSED'S FULL NAME, hereby provide notice to the military judge that I waive the 
presence of FULL NAME OF ATTORNEY, my defense counsel for the Commission session 
scheduled for DATE. By my signature below, I certify that: 

a. I have fully discussed this waiver with my defense counsel, NAME OF COUNSEL WITH 
WHOM DISCUSSED, and helshe has fully advised me of; and I understand my right to, have 
my defense counsel present for Commission sessions. 'L have also been advised and understand 
that the abseace of NAME OF ABSENT ATTORNEY will not delay or defer the business of the 
Commission, whether previously scheduled or arising during the Commission session. I further 
uncerstand and agree that NAME OF COIJNSEL THAT WILL BE PRESENT AT THE 
SESSIOIV islare competent and fully capable of representing me and litigating all matters that are 
scheduled far or may come up at the Commission session. I further certify that this waiver is not 
made in an attempt to delay the proceedings and in fact will not delay the proceedings. 

-3. I am voluntarily executing this waiver of counsel after being fully advised of my right to 
counsef and discuss~ng that right with my defense counsel. No one has threatened me or in 
anyway forc~zd me to execute this waiver and I believe it is in my best interest to execute it. 

IIWe, NAME OF DETAILED DEFENSE COLNSEL & LEAD DEFENSE COUNSEL (if other 
than DDC), by mylour signature below, certify to the military judge that: 

1. I/we have fully discussed the substance of this waiver with the accused, NAME OF 
ACCUSED, and he fully understands its content and impact. 

2. This waiver will not in anyway delay or inhibit lhe business of the Commission, 
whether schcduled or that may arise at the next session, artd this waiver is not offered to delay or 
defer the business of the Commission. 

3. The Detailed Defense Counsel, NAME OF DDC TO BE PRESENT, is fully qualified 
and competent to litigate all matters that should arise at the scheduled Commission session. 

4. I believe it is in the best interest of the accused that he execute this waiver. 

Detailed ~ e i e n s e  CounsellDate Lead Defense CounselIDate 
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From: DoD OGC 
Sent: 'Tuesday, March 13, 2007 5:20 PM 
To : 

Cc: 
Subject: RE: U.S. ' J .  HICKS - MILITARY JUDGE VOIR DIRE - PRO!;ECUTION (SUBMISSION TIME) 

Your i'c~ir dire subrnissiort was recei\.ed by thc OVIC'TJ staff at I 158, 13 March 2U07 I t  ni3$ rerre~\,ecl prior ro 
thc time est:~bl~slieci In the notice and detailing em;~il. 'There was an  error 111 the en~nil clocA .;y.;tcm, hich has 
hccn rssolt ucl. 

I ISAR 
Scniu~. Attonicy Ad\isoi- 
Military ('ornmissions 'rii;il .I~tdici:~i.~' 
T3cp:lflrnenc uf DcTense 

From: DoD OGC 
Sent: Tuesday, March 13, 2007 12:OO 
To: , , . . 

Subject: RE: U.S. V. HICKS - MILITARY JUDGE VOIR DIRE - PROSECUTTON (SUBMISSION T M E )  

1. The Prosecution requests that it be noted Prosecution submitted its voir dire o/a 
1154 E:DT. 

2. For some reason our (OCP) e-mail clocks are showing an hour late.r, and we are working 
to correct that problem. 

LtCol, USMC 
AE 8 (Hicks) 
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- ~p 

From: DoD OGC 
Sent: Tuesday, March 13, 2007 12:54 
To: 

Subject: U.S. V. HICIG - IYILTTARY JUDGE VOIR DIRE - PROSECUTION 

1. Attached is the Prosecution voir dire of 13 Mar 07. 

2. Also attacheti is the Prosecution detailing memorandum of 28 Feb 07. 

LtCol, USMC 
Prosecutor, Office of Military Commissions 

AE 8 (Hicks) 
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DoD OGC 

From: 
Sent: 
To : 

Subject: 

Signed By: 

Attachments: 

LTC, DoD OGC 
Wednesday, March 14,2007 5 5 6  PM 

FW: U.S. v. Hicks - Prosecution Special Request for Relief to Permit the Absence of LT 
Trivett from the Arraignment Session 
mike.chappell@us.arrny.mil 

Hicks - Pros - Detailing Memo - 070228.pdf 

Hicks - Pros - 
Detailing Memo ... 

has directed that I send the email below to the parties. 

USAR 
Senior Attorney Advisor 
Military Commissions Trial Judiciary 
Department of Defense 

- - - - -  Original Message----- 
From: 
Sent: Wednesday, March 14, 2007 16:43 
To: LTC, DoD OGC 
Subject: FW: U.S. v. Hicks - Prosecution Special Request for Relief to 
Permit tP.e Absence of from the Arraignment. Session 

Please fcrward my response to the counsel in this case 

1. is excused from the scheduled hearing on 26 March 2007. 

Colonel, U. S. Marine Corps 

- - - - -  Original Message----- 
From : LtCol, DoD OGC 
Sent: Wednesday, March 14, 2007 13:55 
To: - - 

AE 9 (Hicks) 
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